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VIRGINIA: 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF STAUNTON 

VIRGINIA ST A TE BAR EX REL 
EIGHTH DISTRICT COMMITTEE 

Complainant, 

v. Case No. CL23-342 

DALE REESE JENSEN 

Respondent. VSB DOCKET NOS. 22-080-124753; 
22-080-125016; 22-080-125134; 22-080-125221; 
22-080-125485; 22-080-125529; 22-080-125496; 
and 23-080-126976 )Ull'IO .. 002 "H NOP 

UO .. AINOOOl'IHUWlU'IU 
FINAL MEMORANDUM ORDER lOI.ldO S, XHl'IO llOOHIO 

THIS MATTER was heard on October 23-26, 2023 before a Thre~!jJfff&r~~lt~ 
a::1.nilOlH 

duly impaneled pursuant to Section 54.1-3935 of the Code of Virginia (1950) as amended, 

consisting of the Hon. Cheryl V. Higgins of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit as Chief Judge 

Designate ("Chief Judge"), the Hon. Daryl L. Funk of the Twenty-Sixth Judicial Circuit as 

Judge, and the Hon. F. Patrick Yeatts of the Twenty-Fourth Judicial Circuit as Judge 

(collectively, "the Court"). 

Assistant Bar Counsel Paulo E. Franco, Jr. and Seth T. Shelley represented the Virginia 

State Bar ("VSB"). Respondent, having received proper notice, appeared in person at all times 

throughout the proceedings and acted prose. 

The Chief Judge swore the court reporter, and each member of the Court verified that he 

or she had no personal or financial interest that might affect or reasonably be perceived to affect 

his or her ability to be impartial in this matter. 



WHEREUPON a hearing was conducted upon the Rule to Show Cause issued on July 7, 

2023 against Respondent. The Rule directed Respondent to appear and to show cause why his 

license to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia should not be suspended, revoked, or 

otherwise sanctioned by reason of the allegations of ethical misconduct set forth in the 

Certification issued on May 22, 2023 ("the Certification") by a subcommittee of the Eighth 

District Committee of the VSB. The Certification addressed eight matters as follows: 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125529, Complainant Philip James Ostrander; 

VSB Docket No. 23-080-126976, Complainant Flora Skipwith; 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125134, Complainant Chamette Jones; 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125016, Complainants Antonio Townsend and Maria Lankford; 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125485, Complainant Eugene A. Fredo; 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125221, Complainant Thomas Purcell; 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-124753, Complainant Monique Nichols; and 

VSB Docket No. 22-080-125496, Complainant Virginia State Bar. 

The Respondent requested, and the Court granted, a rule on witnesses, except for 

Complainants Flora Skipwith, Chamette Jones, and Thomas Purcell, who remained in the 

courtroom throughout most of the proceedings pursuant to Part 6, Section IV, Paragraph 13-18.K 

of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. 

MISCONDUCT PHASE 

On respective motions of the parties, the Court admitted the VSB's Exhibits Al-A22, B1-

B5, Cl-C 17, Dl-Dl 8, El-E39, Fl-F25, G 1-G 16, Hl-Hl 8, and 11-111, and Respondent's 

Exhibits 1-31 prior to opening statements. Thereafter, the parties presented opening arguments. 

During the Misconduct phase, the VSB called the following witnesses: 
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1. VSB Investigator Robert Baker; 

2. Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz, Esquire; 

3. Nicholas Ostrander; 

4. Flora Skipwith; 

5. Chamette L. Jones; 

6. The Hon. Robert E. Tyler, Commonwealth's Attorney for Charles City County; 

7. Velnita Harmon; 

8. John Fredo (by Polycom); and 

9. Thomas Purcell. 

During the VSB 's case in chief, the Court admitted into evidence VSB Exhibits B6, C 18-

C 19, D19-D21, E40, GI 7-Gl8, and Jl-17 (Affidavits of Phillip Ostrander, Michael Robinson, 

Christopher Albert, Antonio Townsend, Maria Lankford, Eugene Fredo, and Nahfis Nichols). 

Respondent testified in each of the eight cases. Respondent called no other witnesses in the 

Misconduct phase. The Court admitted into evidence Respondent's Exhibits 32-40 during his 

case presentation. The VSB thereafter called VSB Investigator Robert Baker ("Investigator 

Baker") to testify in rebuttal in the Fredo case (VSB Docket No. 22-080-125485). 

On October 25, 2023, at the conclusion of all the evidence in the Misconduct phase, 

counsel presented closing arguments to the Court, and the Court thereafter recessed for the 

evening. On October 26, 2023, the Court reconvened at 10:00 a.m. to announce its findings 

regarding the Misconduct phase of the trial. 

Upon due deliberation and consideration of the parties' exhibits, witness testimony, and 

the arguments of counsel, the Court made the following findings of fact by clear and convincing 
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evidence and then made the following conclusions of law with respect to the allegations in the 

Certification. 

1. Respondent was admitted to the VSB on October 13, 2005. At all relevant times, 
Respondent was a member of the VSB. (VSB Ex. A3) 

2. Respondent's address of record is in Staunton, Virginia. He also maintains an 
office in Charlottesville, Virginia where he sees clients by appointment. (VSB Ex. A3) 

3. Case law in Virginia prior to 2016 recognized that defective indictments were 
procedural in nature and could, therefore, be waived. (VSB Ex. A 7) 

4. Respondent developed a legal theory sometime in 2016 that the Indictment Clause 
of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution applied to the states via the Fourteenth 
Amendment to the United States Constitution, thereby creating a constitutional right to a proper 
indictment, rendering any conviction based on a defective indictment void ab initio ("Defective 
Indictment Argument"). (VSB Ex. Al at p. A-10, ,,14-16 and p. A-380, ,,7-9) 

5. Respondent developed this theory in connection with his representation of Phillip 
Ostrander ("Mr. Ostrander"), one of the Complainants identified in the Certification. Id. 

6. Respondent filed a Motion to Vacate Mr. Ostrander's criminal convictions in the 
Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake on April 21, 2016 in which Respondent alleged that Mr. 
Ostrander's indictments were defective because they were not properly returned in open court, 
nor were they recorded in the records of the Clerk's Office. By letter opinion dated May 17, 
2016, the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake rejected the Defective Indictment Argument. 
(VSB Ex. A4) 

7. On May 31, 2016, the Court of Appeals of Virginia handed down its opinion in 
Epps v. Commonwealth, 66 Va. App. 393, 785 S.E.2d 792 (2016), holding that defects in an 
indictment are procedural in nature and can be waived. (VSB Ex. AS) 

8. On June 16, 2016, the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake denied the Motion 
for Rehearing that Respondent filed on Mr. Ostrander's behalf, citing the Court of Appeals of 
Virginia's decision in Epps v. Commonwealth. (VSB Ex. A6) 

9. Respondent subsequently filed a Petition for Appeal on Mr. Ostrander's behalf 
with the Supreme Court of Virginia. (VSB Ex. A13) 

10. At or about the same time, Respondent filed an appeal with the Supreme Court of 
Virginia on behalf of a client named Ronald Cooke ("Mr. Cooke"), raising the Defective 
Indictment Argument on his behalf. (VSB Ex. A8) 

11. On June 1, 2017, the Supreme Court of Virginia affirmed the Court of Appeals' 
decision in Epps v. Commonwealth, 293 Va. 403, 799 S.E.2d 516 (2017), via published opinion. 
(VSB Ex. A7) 
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12. On June 5, 2017, Respondent downloaded a copy of the Supreme Court of 
Virginia's opinion in Epps v. Commonwealth. (VSB Ex. A 7) 

13. On August 23, 2017, the Supreme Court of Virginia refused the petition for 
appeal that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Cooke, citing its decision in Epps v. 
Commonwealth. (VSB Ex. A8) 

14. On September 8, 2017, Respondent filed a petition for appeal in the Court of 
Appeals of Virginia on behalf of a client named Qiuxiang Liu ("Ms. Liu") from a criminal 
conviction in the Circuit Court of Arlington County, alleging that her conviction was void ab 
initio based on the Defective Indictment Argument. (VSB Ex. Al8) 

15. On October 5, 2017, the Supreme Court of Virginia refused the petition for appeal 
that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Ostrander. (VSB Ex. A13) 

16. Respondent appealed the decisions of the Supreme Court of Virginia in the Cooke 
and Ostrander matters to the United States Supreme Court. (VSB Exs. A9 and A14) 

17. On December 15, 2017, the Court of Appeals of Virginia dismissed Ms. Liu's 
petition for appeal, citing, among other cases, the Supreme Court of Virginia's decision in Epps 
v. Commonwealth. (VSB Ex. A20) 

18. On January 8, 2018, the United States Supreme Court denied the petition for a 
writ of certiorari that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Cooke. (VSB Ex. A 10) Respondent 
thereafter filed a petition for rehearing. (VSB Ex. A 11) 

19. On January 23, 2018, the Court of Appeals of Virginia denied the Petition for 
Rehearing that Respondent filed on Ms. Liu's behalf. (VSB Ex. A22) 

20. On March 5, 2018, the United States Supreme Court denied the petition for a writ 
of certiorari that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Ostrander. (VSB Ex. A 15). Respondent 
thereafter filed a petition for rehearing. (VSB Ex. A 16) 

21. On March 19, 2018, the United States Supreme Court denied the petition for 
rehearing that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Cooke. (VSB Ex. Al2) 

22. On April 16, 2018, the United States Supreme Court denied the petition for 
rehearing that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Ostrander. (VSB Ex. Al 7) 

23. Flora Skipwith, Chamette Jones, Velnita Harmon, John Fredo, and Thomas 
Purcell testified in person; and Michael Robinson (VSB Ex. 12), Christopher Albert (VSB Ex. 
13), Antonio Townsend (VSB Ex. 14), and Eugene Fredo (VSB Ex. 16) each testified by 
Affidavit, that at no time did Respondent advise any of them that the legal challenges 
Respondent prepared were similar to the one he prepared for Mr. Ostrander, or that the Defective 
Indictment Argument had been rejected by at least one Virginia circuit court, the Court of 
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Appeals of Virginia, and twice by both the Supreme Court of Virginia and the United States 
Supreme Court. 

24. Respondent also did not advise these subsequent clients and their families of the 
Supreme Court of Virginia's opinion in Epps v. Commonwealth, 293 Va. 403, 799 S.E.2d 576 
(2017). Id. 

25. Sometime in January of 2021, VSB Investigator David Jackson provided 
Respondent a copy of Legal Ethics Opinion 1606 ("LEO 1606"), which was adopted by the 
Supreme Court of Virginia in 2016. (VSB Ex. A 1, p. A-88 at ,-i381 and p. A-417 at ,-i86) 

26. In all of these cases, Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted in 
interviews that he did not properly handle clients' advance legal fees in accordance with Rule 
1.15 of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. Throughout his Answer to the Certification 
and in his witness testimony, Respondent admitted that he did not handle clients' advance legal 
fees properly, due to him having a different interpretation of the requirements set forth in LEO 
1606, adopted by the Supreme Court of Virginia in November of 2016. 

27. Despite having been provided a copy of LEO 1606 in January 2021, from at least 
that time through June 2021, Respondent deposited only one advance legal fee in his trust 
account - for a case review in the Albert matter - and even in that instance, he subsequently 
failed to withdraw all of those funds after they had been earned. As a result, Respondent 
comingled earned fees with other client advance fees held in trust. (VSB Exs. D7 and 12) 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125529 
Complainant: Philip James Ostrander 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

28. Phillip Ostrander ("Mr. Ostrander") was convicted of several felonies by a jury in 
the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake on May 22, 2006 and was given a custodial 
sentence in the Virginia Department of Corrections. (VSB Ex. JI at ,-i3) 

29. Sometime in 2015, Mr. Ostrander saw Respondent's advertisement in a prison 
newspaper. (VSB Ex. JI at ,-r4) 

30. Mr. Ostrander retained Respondent sometime in 2015 to represent his interests in 
seeking post-conviction relief. (VSB Exs. B3 at p. B-13 7 and JI at ,-rs) 

31. Mr. Ostrander, by way of his family members, paid Respondent an advance fee of 
$15,000 to retain Respondent's services to file a motion to vacate based on the Defective 
Indictment Argument. (VSB Ex. JI at ,-r4 and ,-i7, testimony oflnvestigator Baker). 

32. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent stated to him during the 
investigation that Respondent did not deposit those advance legal fees into his trust account as 
required by Rule 1.15 of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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33. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent failed to keep the proper records of 
the manner in which Mr. Ostrander's advance legal fee was earned, that he did not keep proper 
cash receipts and disbursement journals, and that he did not properly reconcile his trust account 
in accordance with the requirements of Rule 1.15 of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 

34. In his Answer to the Certification and in his witness testimony, Respondent 
admitted that he did not handle clients' advance legal fees properly, due to him having a different 
interpretation of the requirements set forth in LEO 1606, adopted by the Supreme Court of 
Virginia in November of 2016. 

35. In 2020, after the United States Supreme Court's refusal to grant a writ of 
certiorari in Mr. Ostrander's case involving the Defective Indictment Argument, Mr. Ostrander 
subsequently retained Respondent to file a federal civil action against the Virginia Department of 
Corrections alleging various torts and other claims. (VSB Ex. Jl at ,12) 

36. Mr. Ostrander expressed frustration in JPay emails that he sent Respondent that 
during this representation, Respondent effectively ceased communicating with him. (VSB Ex. 
B5, testimony of Nicholas Ostrander, Mr. Ostrander's son) 

37. Respondent did not advise Mr. Ostrander that he filed a lawsuit on his behalf in 
the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Norfolk Division, on January 
22, 2021, alleging violations of his civil rights (the "Federal Civil Action"). (VSB Exs. Bl at pp. 
B-6 - B-17 and Jl at ,13) 

38. On July 8, 2021, the defendants in the Federal Civil Action moved to dismiss the 
lawsuit for failure to state a claim. (VSB Ex. B 1 at pp. B-24 - B-58) 

39. The United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, Norfolk 
Division, granted defendants' motion to dismiss Respondent's complaint, but allowed 
Respondent leave to file an amended complaint. (VSB Ex. B 1 at pp. B-84 - B-88) 

40. Respondent did not notify Mr. Ostrander of the dismissal of the Federal Civil 
Action. (VSB Ex. Jl at ,,13-15) 

41. Frustrated by the lack of communication with Respondent, Mr. Ostrander retained 
new counsel to represent his interests in the Federal Civil Action, Jessica N. Sherman-Stoltz 
("Ms. Sherman-Stoltz"). (VSB Ex. Jl at ,14) 

42. It was Ms. Sherman-Stoltz who finally informed Mr. Ostrander that the Federal 
Civil Action had been dismissed. (VSB Ex. J 1 at , 15) 

43. Ms. Sherman-Stoltz and Mr. Ostrander tried, on numerous occasions and without 
success, to contact Respondent about obtaining Mr. Ostrander's client file. (VSB Ex. B6, 
testimony of Ms. Sherman-Stoltz) 

44. During the time that Ms. Sherman-Stoltz and Mr. Ostrander were trying to obtain 
the file, and without his client's authorization or knowledge, Respondent filed an entirely new 
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federal lawsuit (the "Second Federal Civil Action"), rather than filing an amended complaint as 
allowed by the federal court. In the Second Federal Civil Action, Respondent did not correct the 
deficiencies that resulted in the dismissal of the prior Federal Civil Action. (VSB Ex. B2 at pp. 
B-93 - B-114) 

45. The judge in the first Federal Civil Action required Respondent to file a pleading 
stating his intent to abandon the first lawsuit and file a new complaint rather than an amended 
one. (VSB Ex. B 1 at p. B-89) 

46. The Second Federal Civil Action, which Respondent filed without Mr. 
Ostrander's knowledge or authorization, was dismissed by the court on January 28, 2022. (VSB 
Ex. B2 at pp. B-131 - B-134). 

47. Ms. Sherman-Stoltz, Mr. Ostrander (by Affidavit), and Nicholas Ostrander 
testified that Respondent failed to tum over his client's files. (VSB Ex. Jl at ,rt 7) 

48. In March of 2023, Mr. Ostrander emailed Respondent via JPay, an email 
application used by the Virginia Department of Corrections, requesting that Respondent return 
all of his client files. (VSB Ex. B5). 

49. Respondent replied by asking for Nicholas Ostrander's mailing address. (VSB Ex. 
B5) Nicholas Ostrander testified that he had not received any correspondence or communication 
from Respondent concerning the return of his father's files. 

50. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Ostrander 
matter and makes the following Findings of Misconduct. 1 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By.failing to properly file an amended complaint in the Federal Civil Action, as stated in 
the dismissal order, thereby allowing.for the statute of limitations to expire, Respondent violated 
Rule 1.1. 

Rule 1.1 Competence 

A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation 
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to respond to Mr. Ostrander's emails, by_failing to inform him of the filings 
regarding the Federal Civil Action, by failing to advise Mr. Ostrander of the initial dismissal of 

1 During closing argument on Misconduct, the VSB advised the Court that it was withdrawing the Charge of Rule 
1.3(a) (Diligence) in the Ostrander matter. 
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the Federal Civil Action, by failing to communicate his decision to file a new lawsuit instead of 
an amended complaint, and by failing to respond to requests for Mr. Ostrander's file from both 
Mr. Ostrander and Ms. Sherman-Stoltz, Respondent violated Rule l.4(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client 
to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal fees from Mr. Ostrander into his trust account and 
depositing them into his operating account before they were earned, by failing to keep a proper 
accounting of how the funds were earned, by not keeping the required cash receipts and 
disbursement journals, and by not performing the required reconciliation of his trust account, 
Respondent violated Rule 1.15 as follows. 

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

(I) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * * 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 
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( 1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
the account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. The ledger should clearly 
identify: 

(i) the client matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed or 
transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpected balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 



* 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
(d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * 

By failing to provide Respondent's client file to his successor counsel, by failing to take 
adequate steps such as filing an amended complaint per the court's dismissal order in the 
Federal Civil Action, and by taking action in the Federal Civil Action and the Second Federal 
Civil Action during such time that Mr. Ostrander had dismissed Respondent and sought to 
replace him with Ms. Sherman-Stoltz, Respondent violated Rule 1.16(d) and (e). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

* * * 

( d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph (e). 

(e) All original, client-furnished documents and any originals of legal instruments or 
official documents which are in the lawyer's possession (wills, corporate minutes, etc.) are the 
property of the client and, therefore, upon termination of the representation, those items shall be 
returned within a reasonable time to the client or the client's new counsel upon request, whether 
or not the client has paid the fees and costs owed the lawyer. If the lawyer wants to keep a copy 
of such original documents, the lawyer must incur the cost of duplication. Also upon termination, 
the client, upon request, must also be provided within a reasonable time copies of the following 
documents from the lawyer's file, whether or not the client has paid the fees and costs owed the 
lawyer: lawyer/client and lawyer/third-party communications; the lawyer's copies of client­
furnished documents (unless the originals have been returned to the client pursuant to this 
paragraph); transcripts, pleadings and discovery responses; working and final drafts of legal 
instruments, official documents, investigative reports, legal memoranda, and other attorney work 
product documents prepared or collected for the client in the course of the representation; 
research materials; and bills previously submitted to the client. Although the lawyer may bill and 
seek to collect from the client the costs associated with making a copy of these materials, the 
lawyer may not use the client's refusal to pay for such materials as a basis to refuse the client's 
request. The lawyer, however, is not required under this Rule to provide the client copies of 
billing records and documents intended only for internal use, such as memoranda prepared by the 
lawyer discussing conflicts of interest, staffing considerations, or difficulties arising from the 
lawyer-client relationship. The lawyer has met his or her obligation under this paragraph by 

11 



furnishing these items one time at client request upon termination; provision of multiple copies is 
not required. The lawyer has not met his or her obligation under this paragraph by the mere 
provision of copies of documents on an item-by-item basis during the course of the 
representation. 

* * * * 

VSB DOCKET NO. 23-080-126976 
Complainant: Flora Skipwith 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

51. Flora Skipwith testified that she is the mother of Michael Robinson. 

52. Mr. Robinson was convicted of various felonies by the Circuit Court for the City 
of Richmond in October of 2012 and given a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of 
Corrections. (VSB Ex. J2 at ,J3) 

53. On May 19, 2019, Ms. Skipwith contacted Respondent's office about possible 
representation of her son. (VSB Ex. J2 at ,is, testimony of Ms. Skipwith) 

54. On June 2, 2019, Mr. Robinson received a letter from Respondent's office 
quoting a flat fee of $3,000 for an initial review of his case. (VSB Exs. Cl and J2 at ,J6) 

55. On April 6, 2020, Ms. Skipwith received an email from Samantha George stating 
that the case review had been completed. (VSB Ex. C4) 

56. That same information was written in a letter dated April 3, 2020, purportedly 
sent to Mr. Robinson in prison. (VSB Ex. C3) 

57. The April 6, 2020, email also stated that for a flat fee of $25,000, Respondent's 
office would file a motion to vacate Mr. Robinson's order of conviction based on violations of 
Mr. Robinson's Due Process rights and Eighth Amendment rights through the various levels of 
the Virginia court system. (VSB Ex. C4) 

58. On April 9, 2020, Ms. George emailed Ms. Skipwith answers to questions that 
Mr. Robinson had about the next phase of the representation. (VSB Ex. CS) 

59. In pertinent part, Mr. Robinson had previously emailed questions such as, "I 
know you can't guarantee me anything and it's your job to make money, I know how all this 
works, but do we have a chance to win this motion? How strong of case do we have? Because for 
my family 25k is a substantial amount[.]" (VSB Ex. CS) 

60. Ms. George answered in an email by stating, "We would not suggest filing a 
motion that did not have a chance of going somewhere, and we do not want people to waste their 
money[.]" (VSB Ex. CS) 
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61. Ms. Skipwith testified at trial and Mr. Robinson testified by affidavit (VSB Ex. J2 
at ,12) that they both relied upon those representations in paying the $25,000 advance legal fee 
to Respondent. 

62. Ms. Skipwith testified at trial and Mr. Robinson testified by affidavit (VSB Ex. 12 
at ,14) that at no time did Respondent or anyone else on his staff advise either Ms. Skipwith or 
Mr. Robinson of Respondent's prior unsuccessful attempts at advancing the Defective 
Indictment Argument, nor did Respondent or anyone else on his staff advise either Ms. Skipwith 
or Mr. Robinson of the Supreme Court of Virginia's holding in Epps v. Commonwealth. (See 
also testimony of Investigator Baker) 

63. Ms. Skipwith testified that she paid Respondent the entire quoted fee of $25,000 
sometime in April of 2020, after getting part of the money from friends and family and putting 
the rest on her personal credit card. 

64. On July 6, 2020, Respondent filed a motion to vacate sentence and memorandum 
in support thereof on behalf of Mr. Robinson with the Circuit Court for the City of Richmond 
based on the Defective Indictment Argument. Respondent argued that Mr. Robinson's 
indictments were not properly recorded in the record books of the clerk's office and that there 
was no transcript filed of the multijurisdictional grand jury proceeding. (VSB Ex. C7) 

65. The Commonwealth filed a memorandum in opposition citing, among other cases, 
the Supreme Court of Virginia's decision in Epps. (VSB Ex. CS) 

66. On December 9, 2020, the Circuit Court for the City of Richmond issued a written 
order denying the motion to vacate on the grounds that the issues raised in the motion to vacate 
were not jurisdictional. (VSB Ex. C9) 

67. Respondent failed to file a timely notice of appeal of the court's December 9, 
2020 ruling. (VSB Ex. Al at p. A-20, ,87 and p. A-386, ,15) 

68. On February 4, 2021, Respondent filed a motion for a delayed appeal on behalf of 
Mr. Robinson with the Court of Appeals of Virginia. (VSB Ex. Al at p. A-20, ,ss and p. A-386, 
,15) 

69. Ms. Skipwith testified that she and Mr. Robinson attempted unsuccessfully on 
numerous occasions to contact Respondent about the status of the case. 

70. On April 20, 2021, the Court of Appeals of Virginia issued an order denying the 
motion for delayed appeal without prejudice to seek a delayed appeal by means of a petition for a 
writ of habeas corpus. (VSB Ex. CI 0) 

71. On April 27, 2021, Respondent filed a civil complaint in the Circuit Court for the 
City of Richmond, rather than a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, seeking a declaration that 
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Mr. Robinson's conviction order was void ab initio on the same grounds as that set forth in the 
motion to vacate that had been previously denied ("Civil Complaint"). (VSB Ex. C 11) 

72. Respondent testified that he sought and was granted leave to withdraw from the 
Civil Complaint. 

73. Both the Commonwealth's Attorney's Office and the Office of the Attorney 
General filed responsive pleadings in the case, and at least one of them was mailed to 
Respondent. (VSB Exs. C 18 and C 19) 

74. Investigator Baker testified that no other action has been taken in connection with 
the Civil Complaint. (VSB Ex. Cl2) 

75. Mr. Robinson filed a bar complaint against Respondent on April 27, 2021, which 
was ultimately Certified to the Disciplinary Board. Respondent chose to have the matter heard 
by a three-judge panel pursuant to Va. Code. § 54.1-3935. (Respondent's testimony and 
Respondent Exhibit 12) 

76. The disciplinary hearing against Respondent was initially set for two days in 
March of 2022, but continued for cause. 

77. Shortly before the continued disciplinary hearing date, Respondent transferred 
$6,210 from his operating account ending in 6634 into his trust account ending in 6626 with the 
notation "Michael Robinson Retainer Residual." (VSB Ex. Cl3) 

78. Ms. Skipwith testified she was unaware that Respondent had made the transfer of 
the residual retainer. 

79. On October 25, 2022, Ms. Skipwith wrote to Respondent requesting a return of 
the funds that had been paid to Respondent on behalf of Mr. Robinson. (VSB Ex. C 15) 

80. At the time that Ms. Skipwith wrote requesting the return of the funds, 
Respondent was still holding the funds in his trust account. (Respondent's testimony) 

81. Respondent testified that despite having set aside those funds in his trust account, 
he has, to date, refused to refund the $6,120 to Ms. Skipwith. 

82. Respondent testified that he would not return the funds he had set aside in trust 
and marked Michael Robinson Retainer Residual because Michael Robinson and Ms. Skipwith 
were demanding a full refund, and Respondent believed that he had earned most, if not all, of the 
fee based on a quantum meruit analysis. 

83. In support of that analysis, Respondent submitted an Activities Export report at 
the hearing in this matter that reported time that Respondent stated he and his staff had 
performed work on Mr. Robinson's case. The hourly rate that Respondent charged was twice 
that set forth in other Activities Export reports and/or draft invoices that Respondent had 
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submitted in response to VSB subpoena requests in 2022 throughout the investigation of the 
cases set forth in the Certification. (Respondent Ex. 16, See, e.g., VSB Ex. D 16) 

84. Ms. Skipwith testified that Respondent did not respond to her efforts to 
communicate with him regarding a reasonable settlement of the attorneys' fees. 

85. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence, the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct alleged in the 
Certification in the Skipwith matter and dismisses the same: Rule 3.1 (Meritorious Claims and 
Contentions), Rule 8.l(a) and (b) (Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters, and Rule 8.4(a) 
(Misconduct). 

86. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Skipwith matter and 
makes the following Findings of Misconduct. 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By not returning funds that he placed in trust as a residual retainer when requested to do 
so by Mr. Robinson and Ms. Skipwith and instead converting those fees to himself, Respondent 
violated Rule 1.15 (b) as follows. 

RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* 

* * * 

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person the funds, 
securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person is entitled to 
receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid lien or 
assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as 
directed by a tribunal. 

* * * 

By placing $6,120.00 into trust as a residual of the initial retainer and then refusing to 
refund unearned fees when requested to do so by the client, Respondent violated Rule 1.16(d). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

* * * 

(d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
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time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph (e). 

* * * * 

By not returning fees he himse(f acknowledged had not been earned, Respondent violated 
Rules 8.4(b) and (c). 

Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(b) commit a criminal or deliberately wrongful act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's 

honesty, trustworthiness or fitness to practice law; 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 
reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law. 

* * * * 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125134 
Complainant: Charnette Jones 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

87. Complainant Charnette Jones testified that she is the fiancee of Christopher 
Albert. 

88. Mr. Albert was convicted of various felonies in 2006 by the Circuit Court for 
Charles City County and received a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of 
Corrections. (VSB Ex. J3 at 13) 

89. Mr. Albert reached out to Ms. Jones to contact Respondent's office for possible 
post-conviction representation. (VSB Ex. J3 at 15) 

90. Ms. Jones testified that she called Respondent's office sometime in late 
November/early December 2020 and left a message. 

91. Ms. Jones testified that Matthew George, a paralegal working for Respondent, 
returned her call. 

92. Mr. George advised Ms. Jones that they would need to do a preliminary review of 
his case to determine what options were available, and the cost for such a review would be 
$3,500. (VSB Ex. D2) 
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93. According to Ms. Jones's testimony, Mr. George advised her that a pardon 
request would take time, but if they chose a motion to vacate, Mr. Albert would be released in 
short order after the case made its way through the court system. 

94. After discussing the matter with Mr. Albert, Ms. Jones paid Respondent the 
agreed fee of $3,500 for the case review by a credit card transaction on February 4, 2021. 
Respondent's office issued a receipt of payment. (VSB Ex. D6) 

95. Respondent's trust account records show that on February 8, 2021, he transferred 
$3,500 into his trust account with the notation "retainer for Christopher Albert." (VSB Ex. D7) 

96. Respondent's office completed the initial case review on February 19, 2021 and 
forwarded its findings to Ms. Jones and Mr. Albert by letter dated the same. (VSB Ex. D4) 

97. Despite having completed the initial case review for the agreed price of $3,500 in 
February 2021, Respondent allowed the earned fee to remain in his trust account until September 
14, 2021, when he transferred $2,000 back into his operating account. There was no notation 
pertaining to the reason for the transfer. (VSB Ex. 12 at p. 1-31) 

98. Ms. Jones testified that she and Mr. Albert participated in a telephone 
conversation with Respondent concerning the various options outlined in the case review. Ms. 
Jones preferred to go via the pardon route since it was the least expensive. 

99. Ms. Jones testified that Respondent and his staff assured them that a motion to 
vacate was the best chance of success in Mr. Albert's case. Ms. Jones testified that Mr. George 
stated that Mr. Albert would be home in 48-72 hours, and that Respondent told her that once they 
got to the Supreme Court of Virginia, Mr. Albert would be released. Respondent denied making 
such a statement during his testimony in the Albert case. 

100. Ms. Jones testified at trial and Mr. Albert by Affidavit (VSB Ex. J3 at ,,13-14) 
that they relied on those assurances and Respondent's expertise and agreed to a motion to vacate 
based on the Defective Indictment Argument. 

101. The undated case review letter provided to Mr. Albert and Ms. Jones states in 
pertinent part: 

Albert qualifies for a motion to void his sentence as the Circuit Court of 
Charles City did not properly indict him, and therefore lacks jurisdiction. 
The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides in 
pertinent part: No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise 
infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury. 
The right to a grand jury indictment conferred by the Fifth Amendment to 
the United States Constitution applies to state indictments via the 
Fourteenth Amendment. Changes in constitutional law that have occurred 
since Hurtado v. California, 110 U.S. 516, 519 ( 1884) require this result. 
Due to Albert's defective indictments, we recommend that Albert.file a 
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motion to void his sentence, and immediately be released.from 
incarceration. (VSB Ex. D5). 

102. Ms. Jones testified at trial and Mr. Albert by Affidavit (VSB Ex. J3 at ,r1 1) that at 
no time did Respondent or anyone in his office ever advise or disclose to either Mr. Albert or 
Ms. Jones that both the Supreme Court of Virginia and the United States Supreme Court had 
previously rejected the Defective Indictment Argument. 

103. Respondent and his staff made the recommendation to file the motion to void the 
sentence of Mr. Albert without advising either Ms. Jones or Mr. Albert that the Circuit Court for 
the City of Richmond had also rejected the Defective Indictment Argument in the Robinson case 
on December 9, 2020. (VSB Ex. Dl) 

104. Ms. Jones testified that Respondent failed to disclose to either Ms. Jones or Mr. 
Albert the Supreme Court of Virginia's decision in Epps v. Commonwealth. 

105. Ms. Jones testified that Respondent advised Ms. Jones that if they followed the 
recommendation in the case review, Mr. Albert would be home soon. 

106. Respondent's case review stated that the basis for attacking Mr. Albert's 
conviction was that his indictments were not properly recorded in the Circuit Court for Charles 
City County. (VSB Ex. D5) 

107. Mr. Albert's indictments were, in fact, properly recorded in the Circuit Court for 
Charles City County. (VSB Ex. D 11) 

108. On March 7, 2006, a grand jury for Charles City County returned seven 
indictments against Mr. Albert with the grand jury foreperson signing the true bill. (VSB Ex. 
Dl 1) 

109. On March 7, 2006, the Hon. Thomas B. Hoover entered an order indicating that a 
grand jury had returned true bills and ordered the issuance of a capias for Mr. Albert's arrest. 
(VSB Ex. Dl 1) 

110. Judge Hoover's March 7, 2006 order was recorded in the records of the Circuit 
Court of Charles City County on March 14, 2006 at 8:21 a.m. as Instrument 168, Book 3, Page 
221. (VSBEx.Dll) 

111. Respondent sent Mr. Albert a letter dated March 11, 2021 stating that the cost for 
preparing and filing a motion to vacate would be $25,000, which included representation through 
"three levels of the Virginia Court System." (VSB Ex. D8) 

112. Ms. Jones made an initial payment to Respondent in the amount of $10,500 on 
March 12, 2021. (VSB Ex. Al at p. A-27, i!l27 and p. A-391, i!22) 

113. Respondent failed to deposit those funds into his trust account as required by Rule 
1.15 of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. (VSB Ex. Al at p. A-27, i!l28 and p. A-391, 
i!26) 
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114. Over the next two weeks, Ms. Jones made additional payments to Respondent's 
office of$1 l,000 for a total of $21,500. (VSB Ex. 14) 

115. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent told him he did not deposit any of the 
$21,500 into his trust account as required by Rule 1.15 of the Virginia Rules of Professional 
Conduct. The deposit of Ms. Jones's March payments came after Respondent had been made 
aware of LEO 1606. 

116. Investigator Baker testified that in response to a VSB subpoena duces tecum, 
Respondent failed to produce any client subsidiary ledgers or other documents required to be 
kept by Rule 1.15( c) of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent further admitted 
to Investigator Baker that he did not perform the proper reconciliations required by Rule 1.15( d) 
of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 

117. On March 19, 2021, notwithstanding that Mr. Albert's indictments were, in fact, 
properly recorded in the Circuit Court for Charles City County (VSB Ex. D 11 ), Respondent filed 
a motion and memorandum to vacate Mr. Albert's sentence on the grounds that he was not 
properly indicted by the Circuit Court for Charles City County. (VSB Ex. D9) 

118. Respondent submitted timekeeping records known as an Activities Export in 
response to a VSB subpoena that reflect entries he made recording 18.7 hours of time at $300 per 
hour reviewing case law and preparing the motion to vacate between February 24, 2021 and 
March 12, 2021 (VSB Ex. D 16). Investigator Baker testified Respondent told him that the 
document was prepared in response to the VSB's subpoena, and not based on records kept 
contemporaneously. Investigator Baker further testified that he believed that Respondent 
provided the Activities Export in an attempt to justify that he had earned the fees that Ms. Jones 
had paid. 

119. At trial, Respondent presented an Activities Report with the same entries that was 
prepared the weekend before trial (Respondent Ex. 19); however, the hourly rates were double 
those presented in the document previously provided to the VSB (VSB Ex. D 16). Respondent 
testified that after due consideration, the fair value of his work required that he double the hourly 
rates that were reflected in the document that he provided in response to the VSB's subpoena. 

120. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent did not once mention during his 
interview that his hourly rate should have been $600 per hour when he asked Respondent about 
the Activities Export reflected in VSB Ex. D 16. 

121. Although Respondent's Activities Export recorded significant time spent 
performing _legal research and drafting pleadings, the text of the memorandum in support of the 
motion to vacate that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Albert (VSB Ex. D 10) is identical in 
almost all respects to that of the memorandum filed on behalf of Mr. Robinson (VSB Ex. C7), 2 

2 Mr. Robinson's memorandum contains another argument unrelated to the Defective Indictment Argument, which is 
not included in Mr. Albert's memorandum; however, with the exception of background facts specific to each case, 
the Court finds that the memoranda are otherwise virtually identical. 
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which memorandum was, in tum, almost entirely copied from petitions expressly rejected by the 
United States Supreme Court, which Respondent had previously filed on behalf of Mr. Ostrander 
and Mr. Cooke. 

122. During this disciplinary proceeding, in response to the Court's questions, 
Respondent could not and did not identify any substantive new legal research or arguments to 
amend the Defective Indictment Argument section of the memorandum filed on behalf of Mr. 
Albert that were not already included in the argument section of the Michael Robinson 
memorandum. 

123. Charles City County Commonwealth's Attorney Robert Tyler testified that in the 
Commonwealth's opposition to Respondent's motion to vacate, the Commonwealth pointed out 
the inaccuracy of Respondent's statements about Mr. Albert's indictments, and further noted that 
Respondent failed to make any mention of the adverse case law set forth by the Supreme Court 
of Virginia in Epps v. Commonwealth, 293 Va. 403, 799 S.E.2d 516 (2017). 

124. The Commonwealth also cited Commonwealth v. Ostrander, 1 Cir. CR053536, 93 
Va. Cir. 384* (2016)3, a circuit court opinion addressing the same issue, and apparently, the very 
same motion, as the language quoted in that case is exactly the same as found in defendant's 
motion. (VSB Ex. Dl0) The Court in Ostrander came to the same conclusion in 2016 as the 
Virginia Supreme Court did in 2017, a fact of which Respondent was undoubtedly aware, as he 
was counsel of record in the Ostrander opinion cited by the Commonwealth. 

125. Once Respondent filed the motion to vacate on behalf of Mr. Albert, Ms. Jones 
testified that communications between Respondent and his staff, and Mr. Albert and Ms. Jones 
all but ceased. (VSB Ex. J3 at i!i'fl 5-16) 

126. Ms. Jones testified that she made repeated attempts to contact Respondent's office 
that eventually led to her number being blocked by Respondent's phone number. 

127. From March 2021 through the end of 2021, Respondent did not place the motion 
to vacate on the Circuit Court for Charles City County's calendar. (Testimony oflnvestigator 
Baker, Respondent, and Commonwealth's Attorney Robert Tyler) 

128. Ms. Jones testified that in January of 2022, she contacted the clerk's office of the 
Circuit Court for Charles City County and spoke with a person employed there named Ms. Cox. 

129. According to Ms. Jones's testimony, Ms. Cox informed Ms. Jones that the clerk 
had received the motion to vacate but that Respondent had not taken any steps to place the matter 
before the court. 

130. Ms. Jones testified that Ms. Cox later advised Ms. Jones that she had contacted 
the Commonwealth Attorney's office and confirmed that no one from Respondent's office had 
contacted that office about scheduling a hearing on Mr. Albert's motion to vacate. 

3 The published opinion in Ostrander is a compendium of the two opinion letters identified as VSB Exhibits A4 and 
A6. Respondent was counsel of record in that matter. 
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131. Ms. Jones tried unsuccessfully to contact Respondent's office on her own phone 
after speaking with Ms. Cox. 

132. Ms. Jones was later able to speak to Respondent using her daughter-in-law's 
phone. 

133. Respondent told Ms. Jones that he was waiting on the Commonwealth's Attorney 
to set the matter for a hearing. However, Ms. Jones told Respondent that the Commonwealth 
Attorney's office was actually waiting on him to act and gave him Ms. Cox's phone number. 

134. Ms. Jones testified that was the last time that Mr. Albert or Ms. Jones spoke to 
Respondent or anyone at his office. 

135. Ms. Jones testified that she again thereafter spoke with Ms. Cox, who advised that 
she had spoken with Respondent. 

136. Ms. Jones testified she called Ms. Cox again about a week later, and Ms. Cox 
advised that Respondent still had not taken any action to place the motion to vacate before the 
court for argument. 

137. Ms. Jones testified that on January 19, 2022, she drove to an office that 
Respondent maintained in Charlottesville, Virginia and slid a letter under his door outlining her 
concerns about Respondent's representation. Ms. Jones took photographs of the delivery, as well 
as the content of the letter. (VSB Ex. D12) 

138. Ms. Jones testified that she did not receive any response to her January 19, 2022 
letter. 

139. On January 26, 2022, Mr. Albert sent Respondent a letter terminating his services 
and demanding a refund within 30 days. (VSB Ex. D13) 

140. Respondent testified that he never received either of these letters. 

141. Ms. Jones testified that she contacted Ms. Cox yet again in early February of 2022 
and was advised that Respondent still had not submitted the necessary filings to place the matter 
before the court. 

142. On March 1, 2022, Ms. Jones filed the instant bar complaint. (VSB Ex. D 19) 

143. On March 28, 2022, a subpoena duces tecum issued by the VSB was delivered to 
Respondent's address of record with the VSB by certified mail. (VSB Exs. D20 and D21) 

144. Despite having been previously terminated, Respondent's billing records indicate 
that on March 28, 2022, he set the matter for hearing in the Charles City County Circuit Court. 
(VSB Ex. D16) 
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145. On April 8, 2022, Ms. Jones called Investigator Baker and advised that Mr. Albert 
had called her the day before. (VSB Ex. 017 at p. D-137) 

146. Mr. Albert told Ms. Jones that the warden of his facility advised Mr. Albert on 
April 7, 2022 to get ready to go to court. (VSB Ex. D 17 at p. D-13 7) 

14 7. Mr. Albert was confused because no one had communicated to him why he would 
be going to court. (VSB Exs. D 1 7 at p. D-13 7 and J3 at ,20) 

148. Respondent testified that he did not write a letter to Mr. Albert because it would 
not have arrived in time. He conceded on cross-examination that he did not call Mr. Albert or 
Ms. Jones to inform them that the hearing would take place. 

149. Respondent testified that he received another letter from Mr. Albert once again 
terminating the representation and requesting a refund. 

150. Ms. Jones testified that despite not performing the work for which he was 
contracted, and despite demands by both her and Mr. Albert, Respondent has, to date, refused to 
refund any unearned fee. 

151. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence, the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct alleged in the 
Certification in the Jones/Albert matter and dismisses the same: Rule 3.1 (Meritorious Claims 
and Contentions), Rules 3.3(a)(l) and (3) (Candor Toward the Tribunal), Rule 8.l(b) (Bar 
Admission and Disciplinary Matters), and Rule 8.4(b) (Misconduct). 

152. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar did prove by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Jones/Albert matter and 
makes the following Findings of Misconduct. 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By scheduling a hearing against Mr. Albert's wishes after Mr. Albert and Ms. Jones both 
fired him, and for not providing Mr. Albert with notice of his intention to argue the motion to 
vacate, Respondent violated Rule l.2(a). 

Rule 1.2 Scope of Representation 

(a) A lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of 
representation, subject to paragraphs (b ), ( c ), and ( d), and shall consult with the client as to the 
means by which they are to be pursued. A lawyer shall abide by a client's decision, after 
consultation with the lawyer, whether to accept an offer of settlement of a matter. In a criminal 
case, the lawyer shall abide by the client's decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a 
plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify. 

* * * * 
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By failing to properly notice and schedule a hearing on the motion to vacate in a timely 
fashion, Respondent violated Rufe J.3(a). 

Rule 1.3 Diligence 

(a) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. 

* * * * 

By failing to respond to calls, emails, and letters, by failing to inform Mr. Albert of the 
hearing in a reasonable manner, and by failing to explain to or advise both Mr. Albert and Ms. 
Jones that the Defective Indictment Argument had been previously rejected by the Virginia 
Supreme Court, the United States Supreme Court, and, as recently as a few months earlier, in the 
Richmond Circuit Court in the Robinson case, and that case law was not in their favor, 
Respondent violated Rule J.4(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

( a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client 
to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 

* * * * 

By charging an excessive fee/or work product that was copied almost verbatim from 
documents filed on behalf of previous clients, and by not properly explaining to Mr. Albert and 
Ms. Jones that the Defective Indictment Argument had been previously rejected by the Virginia 
Supreme Court, the United States Supreme Court, and as recently as a few months earlier, in the 
Richmond Circuit Court in the Robinson case, and that case law was not in their favor, 
Respondent's fee was excessive and violated Rule l.5(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.5 Fees 

(a) A lawyer's fee shall be reasonable. The factors to be considered in determining the 
reasonableness of a fee include the following: 

( 1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 
employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 
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(4) the amount involved and the results obtained; 

( 5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 

(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 

(7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 
services; and 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 

(b) The lawyer's fee shall be adequately explained to the client. When the lawyer has not 
regularly represented the client, the amount, basis or rate of the fee shall be communicated to the 
client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal fees he received prior to March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account and instead placing them into his operating account, and by failing to keep the 
required records and perform the proper reconciliations of his trust account, Respondent 
violated Rule 1.15 in effect prior to March 15, 2020 as follows. 

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

( 5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or third party without their 
consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as directed by a 
tribunal. 
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(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

(d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

( 1) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 
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(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
(d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records 

* * * * 

By failing to properly deposit the advance legal fees paid after March I 5, 2020 into his 
trust account, by not returning unearned fees when requested to do so, and instead converting 
those fees to himself by failing to keep the records required, and by failing to perform the 
required reconciliation of his trust account as required after March I 5, 2020, Respondent 
violated Rule I. I 5 as follows. 

RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 3.15.20) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

( l) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 
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(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person 
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person 
is entitled to receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( 1) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

(4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

(d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * * 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 
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(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * * 

By refusing to return unearned fees to Ms. Jones and Mr. Albert after having been 
requested to do so, Respondent violated Rule 1.16(d). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

( d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph (e). 

* * * * 

By allowing his staff to make false statements that Respondent's arguments would be 
successful and have Mr. Albert home soon, and by ratifying such statements by making the same 
to both Ms. Jones and Mr. Albert, Respondent violated Rule 5.3 by not having adequate 
guidelines in place and by ratifying the misconduct. 

Rule 5.3 Responsibilities Regarding Nonlawyer Assistants 

With respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer: 

(a) a partner or a lawyer who individually or together with other lawyers possesses 
managerial authority in a law firm shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in 
effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person's conduct is compatible with the 
professional obligations of the lawyer; 

(b) a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make 
reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional 
obligations of the lawyer; and 

28 



( c) a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if: 

* 

(l) the lawyer orders or, with the knowledge of the specific conduct, ratifies the 
conduct involved; or 

(2) the lawyer is a partner or has managerial authority in the law firm in which the 
person is employed, or has direct supervisory authority over the person, and knows or 
should have known of the conduct at a time when its consequences can be avoided or 
mitigated but fails to take reasonable remedial action. 

* * * 

By providing timekeeping records in response to the VSB 's subpoena that contain false 
statements of the amount of time that was spent on Mr. Albert's pleadings, when a comparison to 
past pleadings filed on behalf of other clients show that work product was duplicated and no new 
legal research was performed, Respondent violated Rule 8.l(a). 

Rule 8.1 Bar Admission And Disciplinary Matters 

An applicant for admission to the bar, or a lawyer already admitted to the bar, in connection with 
a bar admission application, any certification required to be filed as a condition of maintaining or 
renewing a license to practice law, or in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not: 

(a) knowingly make a false statement of material fact; 

* * * * 

By charging exorbitant fees for a motion that Respondent had previously lost in Virginia 
circuit courts, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and the United States Supreme Court, by making 
false statements as to why it took so long to get the motion to vacate heard, by failing to disclose 
controlling legal authority and his prior attempts at presenting the Defective Indictment 
Argument, and by making false statements to both Mr. Albert and Ms. Jones as an inducement to 
choose the more expensive option, and by keeping fees he clearly has not earned, and by 
submitting fraudulent timekeeping records, Respondent violated Rule 8.4(a) and (c). 

Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 
induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 

* * * 
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(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 
reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law. 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125016 
Complainant: Antonio Townsend/Maria Lankford 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

153. Antonio Townsend was convicted of certain felonies in 1998 in the Circuit Court 
for Accomack County. In 1999, he received a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of 
Corrections. (VSB Ex. J4 at ,3) 

154. He is engaged to co-complainant Maria Lankford, a German national. (VSB Exs. 
J4 at ,sand JS at ,3) 

155. Mr. Townsend's sister is Velnita Harmon. (VSB Ex. J4 at ,s) 

156. Mr. Townsend first learned about Respondent's services after seeing 
Respondent's advertisement in prison newspapers. (VSB Ex. J4 at ,4). 

157. Sometime in early 2020, Mr. Townsend asked Ms. Lankford and Ms. Harmon to 
contact Respondent's office about possibly representing his interests. (VSB Ex. J4 at ,s) 

158. On February 27, 2020, Samantha George, a paralegal working for Respondent, 
wrote to Mr. Townsend stating that Respondent's office would be interested in reviewing Mr. 
Townsend's case for a fee of $3,000 and that any subsequent work would include fees ranging 
from $5,000 to $15,000. (VSB Ex. E3) 

159. On March 10, 2020, Ms. Lankford and Ms. Harmon paid Respondent $3,000 to 
perform the initial case review in Mr. Townsend's case. (VSB Ex. E4) 

160. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent acknowledged receipt of the $3,000 
advance legal fee but failed to deposit the funds into his trust account as required by Rule 1.15 of 
the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. (VSB Ex. ES) 

161. In a letter to Mr. Townsend dated March 25, 2020, Samantha George stated that 
the firm had identified a possible post-conviction remedy, and Respondent's firm could pursue a 
motion to vacate judgment based on Mr. Townsend's defective indictment. 

162. The letter went on to quote a fee of $25,000 for representation through the 
Virginia court system and stated that the quoted fee represented a savings from the firm's regular 
fee of $45,000 to perform the work. (VSB Ex. E7) 

163. Ms. Harmon testified at trial and Mr. Townsend testified by Affidavit (VSB Ex. 
J4 at ,,11 and 12) that they relied on Mr. Jensen's expertise and that at no time did Respondent 
or anyone in his office ever advise or disclose to either of them that both the Supreme Court of 

30 



Virginia and the United States Supreme Court had previously rejected the Defective Indictment 
Argument. 

164. Ms. Lankford forwarded to Ms. Harmon $25,000, and Ms. Harmon, in turn, paid 
Respondent the $25,000 advance legal fee. (VSB Ex. J5 at ,s) 

165. By letter dated April 10, 2020, Respondent acknowledged receipt of the funds. 
(VSB Ex. E8) 

166. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted that he did not deposit the 
$25,000 into his trust account. Respondent's trust account records similarly reflect that he did 
not deposit the $25,000 payment into his trust account. (VSB Ex. E5) 

167. Investigator Baker also testified that in response to a subpoena duces tecum, 
Respondent failed to produce any client subsidiary ledgers or other documents required to be 
kept by Rule 1.15( c) of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent further admitted 
to Investigator Baker that he did not perform the proper reconciliations required by Rule 1.15( d) 
of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct and that he failed to keep the proper records of the 
manner in which Mr. Townsend's advance legal fee was earned. 

168. On April 17, 2020, Ms. Harmon received an email from an account in the name of 
James Dennis, identifying a "Mr. Dennis" as Respondent's Chief Law Clerk assigned to Mr. 
Townsend's case. (VSB Ex. E9) 

169. Mr. Dennis advised Ms. Harmon that they would require "100-150 man hours" to 
put together the motion to vacate and that he would be working on the case through its 
completion. (VSB Ex. E9) 

170. Mr. Townsend told Investigator Baker that Matthew George advised him that Mr. 
Dennis had prepared the motion to vacate that was ultimately filed with the court. (VSB Ex. E38 
at p. E-215) 

171. From April through September of 2020, Mr. Townsend, Ms. Lankford, and Ms. 
Harmon wrote Respondent and his staff either through letters or emails requesting an update and 
were advised that the motion to vacate was still being prepared. (VSB Exs. El0-El3) 

172. On August 19, 2020, Ms. Lankford wrote to Respondent asking for a status 
update and inquiring when her fiance would be coming home. (VSB Ex. El2) 

173. On August 19, 2020, Taylor Biggs, a paralegal working in Respondent's office, 
replied to Ms. Lankford stating that while she could not give any guarantees, the Jensen firm did 
not take on cases that it did not believe had a chance of winning. (VSB Ex. El 1) 

174. Samantha George mailed a motion to vacate and supporting memorandum to the 
Accomack County Circuit Court near the end of October 2020. (VSB Ex. El4) 
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175. A file-stamped copy of the motion and memorandum shows that it was filed with 
the court on November 2, 2020 (VSB Ex. E14). 

176. Investigator Baker testified that he reviewed the court case information online, 
and that there was no other activity listed other than the filing of the motion to vacate. There is 
no indication that Respondent filed a praecipe or took other steps to get the motion before the 
court for consideration. In preparation for trial, VSB staff accessed the most recent online case 
information in September 2023 (VSB Ex. 37). There were no changes or updates to the case 
since Investigator Baker first reviewed it in February 2022 (VSB Ex.36). 

177. A comparison of the memorandum in support of the motion to vacate filed on 
behalf of Mr. Townsend in November 2020 and the memorandum in support of the motion to 
vacate filed on behalf of Michael Robinson in July 2020 in the City of Richmond Circuit Court 
reveals that the parts of the Townsend memorandum advancing the Defective Indictment 
Argument were copied directly from the Robinson memorandum (VSB Ex. C7) and contain 
identical typographical errors. (VSB Ex. E14). 

178. The Motion to Vacate that Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Townsend makes 
reference to defects regarding statutory requirements for multi-jurisdictional grand juries. (VSB 
Ex. E14 at p. E-47) However, Mr. Townsend was indicted by a regular grand jury, not a multi­
jurisdictional grand jury. (VSB Ex. E36) The language in the Townsend Motion is identical to 
the Motion filed on behalf of Michael Robinson, whom Investigator Baker testified was, in fact, 
indicted by a multi-jurisdictional grand jury. (VSB Ex. C7 at p. C-9), demonstrating that 
Respondent failed to adequately review the documents for even basic factual accuracy, across 
multiple iterations of the same pleading filed for different clients. 

179. Throughout 2021, Mr. Townsend and his family wrote to Respondent's firm 
requesting updates on the case. (VSB Exs. E19-E25) 

180. Each time, they were told by either Respondent or someone on his staff that they 
were still trying to get the court to act on the motion to vacate without success. (VSB Exs. E 19-
E25) 

181. However, unbeknownst to Mr. Townsend and his family, neither Respondent nor 
anyone at his firm had scheduled the matter for a hearing before the court (VSB Exs. E36 and 
E37) 

182. In December 2021 and January 2022, Respondent failed to keep phone 
conferences that he had scheduled to speak with Mr. Townsend. Mr. Townsend and his family 
wrote to Respondent and his firm expressing their frustration that they were unable to get 
Respondent on the phone to speak with Mr. Townsend. (VSB Exs. E26-E28 and J5) 

183. Becoming frustrated with the lack of communication and progress on the case, 
Mr. Townsend terminated Respondent's services and demanded a refund in late March 2022. 
(VSB Exs. E30 and E31) 
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184. Receiving no reply nor refund from Respondent, Mr. Townsend sent additional 
emails demanding a refund in April and July 2022. (VSB Exs. E32 and E33) 

185. Respondent did not take Mr. Townsend's case through the "three levels of 
representation" as he agreed to do. (VSB Ex. 14 at ,,9, 20, and 21) 

186. To date, Respondent has refused to return any of the fee he has not earned to Mr. 
Townsend or his family. (VSB Exs. 14 at ,19 and JS at ,11) 

187. Further, Respondent took steps to withdraw from representing Mr. Townsend 
without returning to him any of his client file and without returning any unearned fee. (VSB Ex. 
14 at ,21) 

188. Respondent testified that he would not return any of the unearned fees until there 
was a judicial determination of the value of the services that he alleged to have provided Mr. 
Townsend. 

189. In March 2022, Respondent provided a record of time entries in response to a 
VSB subpoena that showed entries for legal research performed even though legal arguments 
contained in the memorandum were identical to arguments filed in previous memoranda for 
other clients of the firm. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted that the time 
records he submitted were not made contemporaneously with the work performed but were, 
instead, generated in response to the VSB's subpoena. (VSB Ex. 35) 

190. Investigator Baker testified that his impression was that Respondent prepared the 
Activities Report to justify the fee he claimed he had earned in connection with his 
representation of Mr. Townsend. 

191. The repeated and copied arguments that Respondent used on behalf of clients 
prior to filing Mr. Townsend's motion indicates that he did not perform the legal research he 
noted on the timekeeping records he submitted in response to the VSB's subpoena duces tecum. 
(See e.g., Exs. A14, A16, and C7) 

192. Further, even if all of Respondent's timekeeping records as produced to the VSB 
in March 2022 were accepted as accurate, by his own accounting, Respondent only performed, at 
best, work that would have generated fees totaling $16,665. (VSB Ex. E35) 

193. During trial, Respondent produced a different version of the Activities Export 
report (Respondent Ex. 22) that reflected billing rates double those contained in the document 
Respondent previously produced to the VSB (VSB Ex. E35). 

194. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent never discussed a billing rate of $600 
per hour during the investigation. 

195. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct alleged in the 
Certification in the Townsend matter and dismisses the same: Rule 3.1 (Meritorious Claims and 
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Contentions), Rule 3.3(a)(l) and (3) (Candor To The Tribunal), Rule 8.l(b) (Bar Admission and 
Disciplinary Matters), and Rule 8.4(b) (Misconduct). 

196. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Townsend matter and 
makes the following Findings of Misconduct. 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By failing to properly notice and schedule a hearing on the motion to vacate in a timely 
fashion, Respondent violated Rule 1.3(a). 

Rule 1.3 Diligence 

(a) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. 

* * * * 

By failing to respond to Mr. Townsend and his family's calls, emails, and letters later in 
the representation, and by failing to explain or advise to both Mr. Townsend and his family that 
the Defective Indictment Argument had been previously rejected by the Virginia Supreme Court, 
the United States Supreme Court, and that case law was not in his client's favor, Respondent 
violated Rule J.4(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client 
to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 

* * * * 

By charging an excessive fee for work product that was copied from documents filed on 
behalf of previous clients, and by not properly explaining to Mr. Townsend and his family that 
the Defective Indictment Argument had been previously rejected by the Virginia Supreme Court, 
the United States Supreme Court, and circuit courts in Virginia and that case law was not in 
their favor, Respondent's fee was excessive and violated Rule 1.5(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.5 Fees 

(a) A lawyer's fee shall be reasonable. The factors to be considered in determining the 
reasonableness of a fee include the following: 
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( l) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 
employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 

(4) the amount involved and the results obtained; 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 

(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 

(7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 
services; and 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 

(b) The lawyer's fee shall be adequately explained to the client. When the lawyer has not 
regularly represented the client, the amount, basis or rate of the fee shall be communicated to the 
client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal fees he received prior to March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account and instead placing them into his operating account, and by failing to keep the 
required records and perform the proper reconciliations of his trust account, Respondent 
violated Rule 1. 15 in effect prior to March 15, 2020 as follows. 

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 
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(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or third party without their 
consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as directed by a 
tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the pay or or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

(1) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

36 



(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
(d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records 

* * * * 

By failing to properly deposit the advance legal fees paid after March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account, by not returning unearnedfees when requested to do so and instead converting 
those fees to himse[f, by failing to keep the records required, and by failing to perform the 
required reconciliation of his trust account after March 15, 2020, Respondent violated Rule 1.15 
as follows. 

RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 3.15.20) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 
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* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person 
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person 
is entitled to receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(I) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through ( c ), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
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be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 

(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * * 

By refusing to return unearned fees to Mr. Townsend after having been requested to do 
so, Respondent violated Rule J. J 6(d). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

( d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph (e). 

* * * * 

By allowing his staff to make false statements that Respondent would not file the motion 
to vacate unless it had merit when Respondent had already lost the argument, repeatedly, and by 
ratifying such statements, Respondent violated Rule 5.3 by not having adequate guidelines in 
place and by ratifying the misconduct. 

Rule 5.3 Responsibilities Regarding Nonlawyer Assistants 

With respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer: 

(a) a partner or a lawyer who individually or together with other lawyers possesses 
managerial authority in a law firm shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in 
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effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person's conduct is compatible with the 
professional obligations of the lawyer; 

(b) a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make 
reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional 
obligations of the lawyer; and 

( c) a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if: 

* 

( 1) the lawyer orders or, with the knowledge of the specific conduct, ratifies the 
conduct involved; or 

(2) the lawyer is a partner or has managerial authority in the law firm in which the 
person is employed, or has direct supervisory authority over the person, and knows or 
should have known of the conduct at a time when its consequences can be avoided or 
mitigated but fails to take reasonable remedial action. 

* * * 

By providing timekeeping records in response to the VSB 's subpoena that contain false 
statements of the amount of work that was performed on Mr. Townsend's pleadings, when a 
comparison to past pleadings filed on behalf of other clients shows that work product was 
duplicated and no new legal research was performed, Respondent violated Rule 8.1 (a). 

Rule 8.1 Bar Admission And Disciplinary Matters 

An applicant for admission to the bar, or a lawyer already admitted to the bar, in connection with 
a bar admission application, any certification required to be filed as a condition of maintaining or 
renewing a license to practice law, or in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not: 

(a) knowingly make a false statement of material fact; 

* * * * 

By charging exorbitantfeesfor a motion that had been previously rejected by Virginia 
circuit courts, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and the United States Supreme Court in cases 
where Respondent was counsel, by making false statements as to why the motion had not been 
argued before the circuit court, by failing to disclose contrary legal authority to the client that 
reflects adversely on his fitness to practice law, by making false statements to both Mr. 
Townsend and his family as an inducement to proceed with a motion to vacate based on the 
Defective Indictment Argument, by keeping fees that he clearly has not earned, and by submitting 
fraudulent timekeeping records, Respondent violated Rule 8.4(a) and (c). 
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Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 
induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 

* * * 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 
reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law; 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125485 
Complainant: Eugene A. Fredo 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

197. Eugene Fredo ("E. Fredo") was convicted of various felonies by the Circuit Court 
for the City of Chesapeake in 2011 and given a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of 
Corrections in 2012. (VSB Ex. J6 at iJ3) 

198. While incarcerated and serving his custodial sentence, E. Fredo learned about the 
post-conviction services that Respondent offered through an advertisement in a prison 
newspaper. (VSB Ex. J6 at iJ4) 

199. E. Fredo wrote Respondent a letter in August 2019 asking Respondent to review 
his case. (VSB Ex. F 1) 

200. On November 7, 2019, Respondent wrote back that he would perform a review of 
E. Fredo's case for a fee of $3,000. Respondent further stated that depending on what options 
might be available after the case review, the fees would range between $5,000 and $15,000. 
(VSB Ex. F2) 

201. On December 20, 2019, Respondent sent E. Fredo an engagement letter to 
perform the case review. E. Fredo signed the same on December 26, 2019. (VSB F7) 

202. E. Fredo's brother, John Fredo ("J. Fredo"), wrote a check payable to Respondent 
on December 9, 2019 in the amount of $3,000. (VSB Ex. F4) 

203. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent told him during an interview that he 
received the $3,000 payment for the case review but did not deposit the fee into his trust account. 

204. On January 14, 2020, Respondent wrote to E. Fredo identifying grounds for 
attacking his conviction based on violations of the Eight Amendment to the United States 
Constitution because the court failed to consider the sexual, emotional, and psychological abuse 
that E. Fredo suffered in his youth. (VSB Ex. F8) 
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205. Respondent's January 14, 2020 letter stated that for a payment of $30,000, 
Respondent would file a motion to void or correct an unlawful sentence through three levels of 
the Virginia Court system. (VSB Ex. F8) 

206. Respondent's January 14, 2020 letter also stated that Respondent required an 
additional fee of $5,000 for an expert witness to conduct a psychological evaluation. (VSB Ex. 
F8) 

207. In a subsequent letter dated January 15, 2020, Respondent advised E. Fredo that 
Respondent had identified another theory on which to challenge E. Fredo's convictions; namely, 
that E. Fredo's counsel during trial waived E. Fredo's right to withdraw his guilty plea without 
E. Fredo's consent. (VSB Ex. F9) 

208. E. Fredo signed an affidavit prepared by Respondent's office to that effect on 
February 24, 2020. (VSB Ex. Fl 1 at p. F-20) 

209. Nowhere in either the January 14 or January 15, 2020 correspondence 
summarizing his case review does Respondent advise E. Fredo that E. Fredo's convictions could 
be challenged on the grounds that there were defects in his indictments or, in fact, make any 
reference to indictments at all. (VSB Exs. F8 and F9) 

210. E. Fredo testified by Affidavit that Respondent did not discuss with him at any 
time that his convictions could be challenged based on defects in his indictments. (VSB Ex. 16 at 
,21) 

211. J. Fredo testified at trial and E. Fredo testified by Affidavit (VSB Ex. 16 at ,22) 
that at no time did Respondent or anyone in his office ever advise or disclose to either of them 
that both the Supreme Court of Virginia and the United States Supreme Court had previously 
rejected the Defective Indictment Argument. 

212. In September 2020, J. Fredo sent Respondent a payment in the amount of 
$35,000, which Respondent deposited into his operating account on September 15, 2020. (VSB 
Exs. Fl2 and Fl3) 

213. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent did not deposit the $35,000 payment 
into his trust account, but instead had it deposited into his operating account. (See also VSB Ex. 
Fl3) 

214. Investigator Baker further testified that Respondent failed to produce any client 
subsidiary ledgers or other documents required to be kept by Rule 1.15( c) of the Virginia Rules 
of Professional Conduct, and that Respondent admitted during the investigative interview that he 
did not perform the proper reconciliations required by Rule l.15( d) of the Virginia Rules of 
Professional Conduct, and that Respondent failed to keep the proper records of the manner in 
which Mr. E. Fredo's advance legal fee was earned. 

2 I 5. On February 26, 2021, Respondent filed a motion to vacate and supporting 
memorandum on behalf of E. Fredo with the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake. (VSB Ex. 
Fl4) 
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216. In the motion, Respondent represented to the Circuit Court for the City of 
Chesapeake that E. Fredo's convictions were void ab initio because a review of the records of 
the Chesapeake Circuit Court showed no indication that Mr. E. Fredo's grand jury indictment 
was ever properly recorded, despite never discussing a possible defective indictment argument in 
any communications with E. Fredo or J. Fredo. (VSB Ex. Fl4) 

217. The Motion to Vacate that Respondent filed on behalf of E. Fredo makes 
reference to defects regarding statutory requirements for multi-jurisdictional grand juries. (VSB 
Ex. Fl4 at pp. F-30- F-31) However, E. Fredo was indicted by a regular grand jury, not a multi­
jurisdictional grand jury. (VSB Ex. Fl5) The language in the E. Fredo Motion is identical to the 
Motion filed on behalf of Michael Robinson, who was, in fact, indicted by a multi-jurisdictional 
grand jury. (VSB Ex. C7 at p. C-9) The same error appears in the Motion filed on behalf of 
Antonio Townsend (VSB Ex. El4 at p. E-47), demonstrating that Respondent failed to 
adequately review the documents for even basic factual accuracy, across multiple iterations of 
the same pleading filed for different clients. 

218. Respondent advanced the Defective Indictment Argument in the filed pleadings 
without informing E. Fredo of his intention to do so and despite there being no basis to challenge 
E. Fredo's indictments (VSB Ex. 16 at ,i2 l ). 

219. The Defective Indictment Argument, which is not pertinent to E. Fredo's case and 
of which Respondent never informed E. Fredo, comprises 27 out of 34 pages of Respondent's 
memorandum in support of motion to vacate filed on behalf ofE. Fredo. (VSB Ex. F14) 

220. The text of the Defective Indictment Argument portion of the memorandum filed 
on E. Fredo's behalf is almost entirely copied verbatim, including typographical errors, from the 
same argument advanced in pleadings on behalf of his previous clients. (VSB Exs. C7, E 14, and 
F14) 

221. The remainder of the Fredo Memorandum consists of an Eighth Amendment 
argument claiming diminished capacity because of post-traumatic stress disorder ("PTSD") 
related to E. Fredo's military service. There is no reference to his "emotional and psychological 
abuse as a child," which was the only grounds for an Eight Amendment argument proposed in 
Respondent's January 14, 2020 case review letter. (VSB Ex. Fl4) 

222. No substantive arguments pertaining specifically to PTSD are raised in the Fredo 
Memorandum. Rather, the text of that argument is almost entirely identical to portions of a 
similar argument that Respondent advanced on behalf of Mr. Townsend. (VSB Exs. E 14 and 
Fl4) 

223. The corresponding argument in the memorandum filed on behalf of Mr. 
Townsend (VSB Ex. El4) relies on claims regarding Mr. Townsend's youth at the time of his 
convicted offenses, as well as his alleged intellectual disability. 

224. The bulk of the argument relating to juvenile offenders and to intellectually 
disabled offenders from the Townsend Memorandum is not included in the Fredo Memorandum; 
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however, multiple references to these aspects of the argument, which are wholly irrelevant to E. 
Fredo's case, 4 remain in the text. 

225. Further, the conclusion of the argument in the Fredo Memorandum references a 
case (Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2028 (2010)) without providing the case citation in 
that memorandum. 5 That citation relates to incarceration of juvenile offenders and was included 
in the section of the argument from the Townsend Memorandum that was removed. 6 Graham v. 
Florida has no bearing on E. Fredo's case. 

226. The inclusion of the reference to Graham, without citation, is an indication that 
Respondent did not adequately review the Fredo Memorandum before filing it with the court. 
(VSB Exs. E14 and F14) 

227. A review of the documents filed on E. Fredo's behalf (VSB Ex. F14) reveals the 
following: 

a. less than one (1) page of the 38 total pages filed pertains to E. 
Fredo' s case specifically; 

b. the remaining 37 pages are directly copied from pleadings that 
Respondent previously filed for other clients 7; 

c. the copied sections contain many errors, including typographical 
errors carried over from previous pleadings and details not relevant to E. Fredo's 
case that were not changed or removed; 

d. only one ( 1) case is cited that was not part of the copied arguments 
and, thus, could be considered new legal research, and the analysis of that case is 
one sentence long; 8 and 

e. the arguments raised are not those discussed in the case review or 
other communications with the client. (VSB Exs. F8, F9, and J6 at ,-i,-i21 and 22) 

228. Timekeeping records that Respondent produced in response to a VSB subpoena 
duces tecum in May 2022 show that Respondent purportedly spent 55.3 hour performing legal 
research, reviewing the facts of the case, and drafting and revising the motion to vacate and 
supporting memorandum, and reflect an hourly rate for Respondent of $300 per hour. (VSB Ex. 
F23) 

4 E. Fredo was 60 years old at the time of his arrest, nor is he alleged to have an intellectual disability. 
5 See VSB Ex. F14 at pages F-64 to F-65. 
6 See VSB Ex. El4 at pages E-82 to E-86. 
7 See VSB Exs. A14, Al 6, C7, and E14 
8 See VSB Ex. F14 at page F-63. 
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229. During trial, Respondent produced a different version of the Activities Export 
report for E. Fredo (Respondent Ex. 24), which listed identical time entries to the report 
previously submitted to the VSB but reflected an hourly rate of $600 per hour, double the rate 
shown in that document (VSB Ex. F23). 

230. The Fredo Memorandum is also devoid of any reference to expert testimony, 
although Respondent was paid $5,000 to retain an expert witness as recommended in his case 
review. (VSB Ex. Fl4) 

231. Investigator Baker testified that when asked during his interview why the Fredo 
Memorandum did not contain any references to expert testimony, Respondent replied that he did 
not have an expert who could provide an opinion. 

232. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent told him later on in that same 
interview that he had, in fact, retained an expert witness and paid for the services per the 
engagement letter that he had sent E. Fredo. 

233. Investigator Baker was unable to locate any documentation relating to an expert 
witness retained on behalf of E. Fredo nor any financial transactions in Respondent's trust or 
operating account records showing a payment for expert opinions relating to E. Fredo. 

234. During that interview, Investigator Baker asked Respondent to provide the name 
of the expert he had retained, how much he paid that person, when he paid that person, and by 
what means he paid that person, but Respondent was unable to produce that information. 

235. Investigator Baker testified that he asked Respondent to provide the information 
when he could find it, but Respondent never did so. 

236. When Respondent testified during the Misconduct phase of the trial about the 
Fredo matter, he stated that he had retained Dr. Anita Boss for another client, but that Dr. Boss 
had been turned away from the prison for that client, and that Dr. Boss had advised Respondent 
of that fact. 

237. During the presentation of the Fredo case, Respondent moved into evidence the 
curriculum vitae of Dr. Boss. (Respondent Ex. 34) 

238. Respondent further testified that due to Dr. Boss being turned away on behalf of 
that other client, he did not pursue an expert opinion from Dr. Boss on behalf of E. Fredo. 

239. In rebuttal, Investigator Baker testified that he had not previously seen Dr. Boss's 
curriculum vitae prior to Respondent introducing it at trial on October 25, 2023 and that he had 
subsequently contacted Dr. Boss by phone on that same date. Investigator Baker testified that 
Dr. Boss did have another client on behalf of Respondent; however, she stated that she had not 
been turned away from the prison in connection with that case, that she had never been turned 
away from a prison, and that she never advised either Respondent or anyone at his office that she 
had been turned away from a prison. She further stated to Investigator Baker that she did not 

45 



recall ever hearing the name Eugene Fredo prior to Investigator Baker's phone call on October 
25, 2023. 

240. After the motion and memorandum were filed, E. Fredo unsuccessfully attempted 
to contact Respondent for an update, calling Respondent's office once every two weeks from 
February through December 2021. (VSB Ex. 16 at ~ll 7) 

241. On October 25, 2021, the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake issued an order 
denying the motion to vacate sua sponte. The court noted that E. Fredo had not been indicted by 
a multi-jurisdictional grand jury and cited the circuit court opinion of Commonwealth v. 
Ostrander, 93 Va. Cir. 384 (Chesapeake City 2016) and Epps v. Commonwealth, 293 Va. 403, 
409 (2017) as authority for dismissing the motion to vacate. (VSB Ex. F 18) 

242. In December of 2021, E. Fredo did manage to speak to Matthew George about the 
status of his case. (VSB Ex. 16 at ifl 8) 

243. At that time, Mr. George falsely stated that the motion to vacate was still 
pending with the court. (VSB Ex. 16 at if I 8) Investigator Baker also testified that E. Fredo told 
him that Mr. George had stated that the motion was still pending before the court, even though it 
had already been dismissed. 

244. E. Fredo and J. Fredo were both under the impression that the motion to vacate 
was still pending before the court in the early months of 2022. (VSB Exs. F 19 and F20) 

245. Investigator Baker also testified that E. Fredo did not learn of the dismissal of the 
motion to vacate until Investigator Baker told him about it in his interview in 2022. (See also 
VSB Ex. 16 at if l 9) 

246. Respondent did not file an appeal on E. Fredo's behalf or otherwise take steps to 
protect his interests. (VSB Ex. F 1 7) 

247. Despite not taking the representation through the "three levels" of the Virginia 
Court system as he agreed to do, Respondent has so far refused or failed to refund E. Fredo the 
portion of the fee payment that was not earned, despite the client demanding its return. (VSB Ex. 
16 at if20) 

248. Respondent acknowledged at trial that he has not provided E. Fredo any refund to 
date, including that he had not refunded the $5,000 for the expert witness that was never 
retained. 

249. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence, the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct alleged in the 
Certification in the Fredo matter and dismisses the same: Rule 3.1 (Meritorious Claims and 
Contentions), Rules 3.3(a)(l) and (3) (Candor Toward The Tribunal), Rule 8.l(b) (Bar 
Admission and Disciplinary Matters), and Rule 8.4(b) (Misconduct). 
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250. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Fredo matter and makes 
the following Findings of Misconduct. 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By failing to adequately review the pleadings he filed on beha(f of E. Fredo and failing to 
realize that the arguments he raised in the motion to vacate were not related to arguments 
Respondent advised advancing in the case review, and by failing to file a notice of appeal, 
Respondent violated Rule I. I. 

Rule 1.1 Competence 

A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation 
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to file a notice of appeal after the motion to vacate was denied, Respondent 
violated Rule 1.3(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.3 Diligence 

(a) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. 

(b) A lawyer shall not intentionally fail to carry out a contract of employment entered 

into with a client for professional services but may withdraw as permitted under Rule 1.16. 

* * * * 

By failing to respond to E. Fredo and his family's communications for updates on the 
status of his case and by failing to advise or explain to E. Fredo and his family that the United 
States Supreme Court, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and Virginia circuit courts had previously 
rejected the Defective Indictment Argument, and that case law was not in his client's favor, 
Respondent violated Rule l.4(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client 
to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 

* * * * 
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By charging E. Fredo a $35,000 fee for work product that was copied almost verbatim 
from documents filed on behalf o_fprevious clients, and by not properly explaining to E. Fredo 
and his family that the United States Supreme Court, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and 
Virginia circuit courts had previously rejected the Defective Indictment Argument, and that case 
law was not in his client's favor, and by charging $5,000 to pay an expert when Respondent 
never paid or retained any such expert, Respondent 'sfee was excessive and violated Rule I.5(a) 
and (b). 

Rule 1.5 Fees 

(a) A lawyer's fee shall be reasonable. The factors to be considered in determining the 
reasonableness of a fee include the following: 

( 1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 
employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 

(4) the amount involved and the results obtained; 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 

( 6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 

(7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 
services; and 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 

(b) The lawyer's fee shall be adequately explained to the client. When the lawyer has not 
regularly represented the client, the amount, basis or rate of the fee shall be communicated to the 
client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal fees he received prior to March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account and instead placing them into his operating account, and by failing to keep the 
required records and perform the proper reconciliations of his trust account, Respondent 
violated Rule I. I 5 in effect prior to March I 5, 2020 as follows. 
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Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or third party without their 
consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as directed by a 
tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
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changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

(d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

(1) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
( d)(3 )(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * * 

By.failing to properly deposit the advance legal fees paid after March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account, by not returning unearned fees when requested to do so and instead converting 
those fees to himself, by failing to keep the records required, and by failing to perform the 
required reconciliation of his trust account after March 15, 2020, Respondent violated Rule 1.15 
as follows. 
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RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 3.15.20) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person 
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person 
is entitled to receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( l) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
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supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * * 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 

* 

(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * 

BY.failing to return unearned fees as requested by E. Fredo, Respondent violated Rule 
1.16(d). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

(d) Upon termination ofrepresentation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph (e). 
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* * * * 

By allowing his staff to make false statements to E. Fredo that a decision had not yet been 
reached by the court when, in fact, the matter had already been dismissed, by ratifying such 
statements, and by not having adequate guidelines in place to prevent such false statements 
being made, Respondent violated Rule 5.3. 

Rule 5.3 Responsibilities Regarding Nonlawyer Assistants 

With respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer: 

(a) a partner or a lawyer who individually or together with other lawyers possesses 
managerial authority in a law firm shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in 
effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person's conduct is compatible with the 
professional obligations of the lawyer; 

(b) a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make 
reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional 
obligations of the lawyer; and 

( c) a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of 
the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if: 

* 

( 1) the lawyer orders or, with the knowledge of the specific conduct, ratifies the 
conduct involved; or 

(2) the lawyer is a partner or has managerial authority in the law firm in which the 
person is employed, or has direct supervisory authority over the person, and knows or 
should have known of the conduct at a time when its consequences can be avoided or 
mitigated but fails to take reasonable remedial action. 

* * * 

By telling Investigator Baker that he had contacted an expert witness on behalf of E. 
Fredo despite having no documentation of such contact or documentation of any related 
payments, by failing to produce such documentation despite a request to do so from Investigator 
Baker, and by submitting fraudulent timekeeping records to the VSB to create the impression 
that he had earned all of E. Fredo 's fee, Respondent violated Rule 8.1 (a) and (c). 

Rule 8.1 Bar Admission And Disciplinary Matters 

An applicant for admission to the bar, or a lawyer already admitted to the bar, in connection with 
a bar admission application, any certification required to be filed as a condition of maintaining or 
renewing a license to practice law, or in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not: 

(a) knowingly make a false statement of material fact; 
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* * * 

( c) fail to respond to a lawful demand for information from an admissions or disciplinary 

authority, except that this Rule does not require disclosure of information otherwise protected by 

Rule 1.6; or 

* * * * 

By charging E. Fredo $35,000 for work product that was copied.from documents 
submitted on beha(f of other clients and that did not contain the arguments that Respondent 
found to be viable in his case review, by keeping unearned fees, by charging E. Fredo fees for 
expert witnesses that Respondent never consulted or retained and refusing to return saidfees,for 
making false statements to the court.for his staff makingfalse statements to E. Fredo about the 
status of the case, by failing to disclose to the court that the United States Supreme Court, the 
Supreme Court of Virginia, and the Circuit Court for the City of Chesapeake had previously 
rejected the Defective Indictment Argument, and by submitting fraudulent timekeeping records, 
Respondent violated or attempted to violate Rule 8.4(a-c) and attempted to violate other Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 

Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 
induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 

(b) commit a criminal or deliberately wrongful act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's 
honesty, trustworthiness or fitness to practice law; 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 
reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125221 
Complainant: Thomas Purcell 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

251. Thomas Purcell was convicted of felonies in October 2016 in the Prince William 
Circuit Court and given a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of Corrections. (VSB 
Ex. A lat p. A-66) 

252. Mr. Purcell completed his custodial sentence and was released from prison; he 
appeared in person to testify at trial. 

253. Mr. Purcell testified that he came upon Respondent's advertisement in a prison 
newspaper while he was incarcerated. 
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254. Mr. Purcell testified that he first contacted Respondent sometime in late 
November of 2019. 

255. Mr. Purcell was told that a case review needed to be performed and that the fee to 
do so would be $3,000. (VSB Ex. G l) 

256. Respondent also agreed to prepare a pardon request with the Governor's office for 
a fee of $2,500. (VSB Ex. G3) 

257. Mr. Purcell's mother, Nancy Follette, paid Respondent $3,000 on December 2, 
2019 for the case review. (VSB Ex. GS at p. G-10) 

258. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent deposited all of that advance legal fee 
into his operating account. 

259. On December 3, 2019, Respondent wrote to Mr. Purcell stating that once the 
review was completed, they would seek to identify avenues to provide post-conviction relief, and 
that the fees would range from $5,000 to $15,000. (VSB Ex. G 1) 

260. The December 3, 2019 correspondence also stated that the fees for performing 
further work were flat fees that were nonrefundable, in violation of LEO 1606, which was 
adopted by the Supreme Court of Virginia in November of 2016. (VSB Ex. G 1) 

261. Mr. Purcell signed the December 3, 2019 letter Accepted and Agreed on 
December 10, 2019. (VSB Ex. Gl) 

262. On December 5, 2019, Ms. Follette paid $1,500 towards the pardon request. (VSB 
Ex. GS at p. G-9) 

263. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent deposited that advance legal fee 
payment into his operating account. 

264. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent did not subsequently transfer the 
December 3 or 5, 2019 payments into his trust account as required by Rule 1.15(a) of the 
Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 

265. Throughout December, Ms. Follette made other payments to pay for 
Respondent's services, none of which Respondent deposited into his trust account. (VSB Ex. GS) 

266. On December 20, 2019, Respondent wrote to Mr. Purcell confirming receipt of 
the $2,500 for work on the pardon application. (VSB Ex. G3) 

267. Mr. Purcell testified that he discussed with Respondent the legal avenues 
available, and that he made it clear to Respondent that he wanted to go all the way to the United 
States Supreme Court, if necessary. 
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268. On January 3, 2020, Respondent wrote to Mr. Purcell memorializing the three­
part strategy they discussed. For a fee of $45,000, Respondent would file a motion to vacate in 
the Price William County Circuit Court citing one or more constitutional violations, a writ of 
actual innocence with Virginia Court of Appeals, and a writ of habeas corpus in federal court. 
(VSB Ex. G4) 

269. Mr. Purcell testified that at no time did Respondent or anyone on his staff ever 
communicate to him that Respondent had previously filed motions to vacate on the same grounds 
on behalf of other clients and that both the Supreme Court of Virginia and the United States 
Supreme Court refused to hear the appeals on those matters. 

270. Similarly, Mr. Purcell testified that Respondent never advised him that Epps v. 
Commonwealth was adverse to the position Respondent wished to advance on his behalf. 

271. The January 3, 2020 letter further stated that once work began on the documents, 
there were no partial refunds. (VSB Ex. G4) 

272. Ms. Follette paid Respondent the agreed fee of $45,000 through periodic, 
incremental payments beginning in January 2020 through at least April 2020. (VSB Ex. G6) 

273. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted to him that none of those 
periodic advance legal fee payments were deposited into Respondent's trust account but were 
instead deposited directly into his operating account without a subsequent transfer. 

274. Investigator Baker also testified that Respondent admitted to him that he failed to 
produce any client subsidiary ledgers or other documents required to be kept by Rule 1.15( c) of 
the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent further admitted to Investigator Baker 
that he did not perform the proper reconciliations required by Rule l.15( d) of the Virginia Rules 
of Professional Conduct. 

275. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent failed to keep the proper records of 
the manner in which Mr. Purcell's advance legal fees were earned. 

276. Investigator Baker testified that, when interviewed during the investigation of this 
matter, Respondent was unaware of who actually paid for services on behalf of Mr. Purcell. 
(VSB Ex. G 16 at p. G-126) 

277. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent was of the belief that someone named 
Mr. Anderson had made a payment of $30,000 on behalf of Mr. Purcell for the work Respondent 
agreed to perform. Respondent produced a redacted copy of his operating account statement 
showing only the deposit from Mr. Anderson on January 13, 2020. (VSB Ex. G8) 

278. Investigator Baker testified that further investigation revealed that, in fact, Mr. 
Anderson's $30,000 payment to Respondent on January 13, 2020 was for work on an unrelated 
matter that had nothing to do with Mr. Purcell. (VSB Ex. G 16 at pp. G-132 - G-133) 
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279. Investigator Baker was then shown an unredacted copy of Respondent's operating 
account for January of 2020 which showed a payment of $30,000 from Mr. Purcell's mother 
made on January 24, 2020. (VSB Ex. G 17). Investigator Baker confirmed that the payment for 
Mr. Purcell's work came from his mother, not Mr. Anderson. 

280. Additionally, Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted to him that 
during the time in which he was representing Mr. Purcell, he did not perform the reconciliations 
on his trust account required by Rule 1.15( d) of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 

281. Respondent filed a motion to vacate and supporting memorandum on behalf of 
Mr. Purcell with the Prince William County Circuit Court on September 27, 2021. (VSB Ex. 
Gl0) 

282. The motion to vacate and memorandum in support filed on behalf of Mr. Purcell 
(VSB Ex. G 10) are identical in nearly every respect to the motions and memoranda that 
Respondent filed on behalf of Mr. Robinson and other clients, advancing the same Defective 
Indictment Argument, almost entirely verbatim. 9 

283. Investigator Baker testified that the Virginia Court of Appeals has no record of a 
writ of actual innocence ever being filed on Mr. Purcell's behalf. 

284. Respondent testified that he was waiting for documents related to the writ of 
actual innocence, while Mr. Purcell testified that he had sent the documents in question to 
Respondent. 

285. Mr. Purcell testified that after he was released from prison in 2021, he made 
repeated requests to Respondent for an update on the status of the motion to vacate. 

286. His last communication with Respondent's office was on March 28, 2022. (VSB 
Ex. Gl2 at pp. G-86- G-89) 

287. On June 1, 2022, the Circuit Court of Prince William County entered an order 
denying the motion to vacate on jurisdictional grounds. (VSB Ex. G 11) 

288. Respondent filed a notice of appeal with the trial court on June 21, 2022. (VSB 
Ex. Gl3) 

289. However, the Court of Appeals of Virginia dismissed the appeal on December 7, 
2022 because Respondent failed to file an opening brief within the required timeframe. (VSB 
Ex. G 18) 

290. Mr. Purcell testified that he was not aware that Respondent had filed an appeal of 
the denial of the motion to vacate. Mr. Purcell stated that Respondent did not inform him of the 
appeal and that Mr. Purcell learned about the appeal and the dismissal of the appeal from the 
VSB. 

9 See VSB Exs. Al 4, Al 6, C7, D9, El 4, and Fl4. 
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291. Respondent and Investigator Baker testified that Respondent did not file a writ of 
habeas corpus on behalf of Mr. Purcell as he was contracted to do. 

292. Mr. Purcell testified that he requested a refund from Respondent but did not 
receive a response. Mr. Purcell further testified that he has filed a civil suit against Respondent 
for the return of unearned fees and that such litigation is still pending. 

293. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove, by clear and 
convincing evidence, the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct 
alleged in the Certification in the Purcell matter and dismisses the same: Rule 1.16( d) (Declining 
Or Terminating Representation), Rule 3 .1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions), Rule 8.1 (a) and 
(b) (Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters), and Rule 8.4(b) (Misconduct). 

294. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Purcell matter and 
makes the following Findings of Misconduct: 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By failing to properly notice and schedule a hearing on the motion to vacate in a 
timely fashion, and by failing to file a Writ of Habeas Corpus despite having been paid to do so, 
Respondent violated Rule 1.3(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.3 Diligence 

(a) A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client. 

(b) A lawyer shall not intentionally fail to carry out a contract of employment entered 

into with a client for professional services, but may withdraw as permitted under Rule 1.16. 

* * * * 

By failing to respond to Mr. Purcell's calls and correspondence, particularly after having 
been released from incarceration, by not properly explaining to Mr. Purcell that the United 
States Supreme Court, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and Virginia circuit courts had previously 
rejected the Defective Indictment Argument and that case law was not in their favor, and by 
never advising Mr. Purcell about the dismissal of the Motion to Vacate, the appeal, or the status 
of his pardon petition, Respondent violated Rule l.4(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 
promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

(b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client 
to make informed decisions regarding the representation. 
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* * * * 

By charging an excessive.fee for work product that was copied almost verbatim from 
documents filed on behalf of previous clients, advancing the Defective Indictment Argument that 
the United States Supreme Court, the Supreme Court of Virginia, and Virginia circuit courts had 
previously rejected and for which case law was not in his client's favor, and by failing to prepare 
a writ of habeas corpus despite having been paid to do so, Respondent's fee was excessive and 
violated Rule J.5(a) and (b). 

Rule 1.5 Fees 

(a) A lawyer's fee shall be reasonable. The factors to be considered in determining the 
reasonableness of a fee include the following: 

( 1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 
involved, and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 
employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 

(4) the amount involved and the results obtained; 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 

( 6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 

(7) the experience, reputation, and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 
services; and 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 

(b) The lawyer's fee shall be adequately explained to the client. When the lawyer has not 
regularly represented the client, the amount, basis or rate of the fee shall be communicated to the 
client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing the 
representation. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal.fees he received prior to March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account and instead placing them into his operating account, and by failing to keep the 
required records and perform the proper reconciliations of his trust account, Respondent 
violated Rule 1. 15 in effect prior to March 15, 2020 as follows. 
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Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or third party without their 
consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as directed by a 
tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( 1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
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changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

(I) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
( d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records 

* * * * 

By failing to properly deposit the advance legal fees paid after March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account, by not returning unearned fees when requested to do so, and instead converting 
those fees to himself, by failing to keep the records required, and by failing to perform the 
required reconciliation of his trust account after March 15, 2020, Respondent violated Rule 1.15 
as follows. 
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RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 3.15.20) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person 
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person 
is entitled to receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( 1) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
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supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

(4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through ( c ), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * * 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 

* 

(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * 

By charging Mr. Purcell $45,000 for work product that was copied from documents 
submitted on behalf of other clients, by failing to prepare a writ of habeas corpus and a writ of 
actual innocence despite having been paid to do so, and by keeping unearned fees, by failing to 
disclose to the court and Mr. Purcell that the United States Supreme Court, the Supreme Court 
of Virginia and various circuit courts in the Commonwealth had previously rejected the 
Defective Indictment Argument, Respondent violated or attempted to violate Rule 8.4(a) and (c) 
and attempted to violate other Rules of Professional Conduct. 
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Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 
induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 

* * * 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 
reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law; 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-124753 
Complainant: Monique Nichols 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

295. Complainant Monique Nichols ("Ms. Nichols") is the mother ofNahfis Nichols 
("Mr. Nichols"). 

296. Mr. Nichols was convicted of multiple felonies by the Circuit Court for the City 
of Newport News in 2011 and received a custodial sentence in the Virginia Department of 
Corrections in 2012. (VSB Ex. J7 at ,-r3) 

297. While incarcerated, Mr. Nichols read Respondent's advertisement in a prison 
newspaper. (VSB J7 at ,-r4) 

298. On August 23, 2017, Respondent wrote that he would prepare a pardon 
application for a fee of $1,999 and a writ of actual innocence for a fee of $5,000. The letter was 
signed and accepted by Mr. Nichols. (VSB Ex. H6) 

299. Respondent's August 23, 2017 letter (VSB Ex. H6) also recognizes that in the 
event of early termination, all unearned fees will be refunded to the client, which is contrary to 
Respondent's testimony at trial that his interpretation of how advance legal fees are to be handled 
by Virginia lawyers was different from that of the Supreme Court of Virginia, and that his 
understanding did not change until, at earliest, sometime in 2021. 

300. Ms. Nichols began making payments to Respondent's firm for the pardon 
application in the fall of 2017. She paid $1,000 on September 13, 2017, $500 on November 9, 
2017, and $499 on December 10,2017. (VSB Ex. Hl3) 

301. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent admitted to him in an interview that 
Respondent failed to deposit the advance legal fees that Ms. Nichols paid in this trust account as 
required by Rule 1.15 (a) of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct. 

302. Ms. Nichols made incremental payments between February 13, 2018 and May 15, 
2019 towards the writ of actual innocence. (VSB Ex. H 13) 
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303. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent similarly failed to deposit those 
advance legal fees into his trust account as required by Rule l. l 5(a) of the Virginia Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 

304. Investigator Baker also testified that Respondent failed to produce any client 
subsidiary ledgers, or other documents required to be kept by Rule 1.15( c) of the Virginia Rules 
of Professional Conduct, and that he failed to keep the proper records of the manner in which 
Mr. Nichol's advance legal fee was earned. 

305. Investigator Baker further testified that Respondent told him that in addition to 
failing to deposit the fees into trust, Respondent did not maintain the required ledgers and 
journals pursuant to the requirements of Rule 1.15( c) and that he did not perform the required 
reconciliations of his trust account pursuant to Rule 1.15( d). 

306. Ms. Nichols completed payment on the writ of actual innocence sometime in fall 
of 2020. (VSB Ex. Hl3) 

307. Respondent and/or his staff prepared documents in connection with the pardon 
application. (Respondent Ex. 29) 

308. Mr. Nichols only received the documents prepared in connection with the pardon 
application and not the writ of actual innocence. (VSB Ex. J7 at ,,8-9) 

309. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent was aware that the Nichols family 
had made a request for a refund, but that Respondent had not provided one. 

310. In response to a subpoena duces tecum issued by the VSB, Respondent provided, 
among other documents, an affidavit dated February 17, 2022, from Matthew George, a 
paralegal that worked in Respondent's office at all times relevant. (VSB Ex. H15) 

311. In the affidavit, Mr. George affirmed that he confirmed with the Secretary of the 
Commonwealth that Mr. Nichols Pardon was still under review as of November of 2021. (VSB 
Ex. Hl5) 

312. At the time that Mr. George affirmed that statement, neither Respondent nor 
anyone at his office had filed a pardon application with the Governor on behalf of Mr. Nichols. 
(VSB Ex. H 16) 

313. Investigator Baker contacted the Governor's office and confirmed that no pardon 
application had even been filed on behalf of Mr. Nichols, either by Respondent or anyone else. 
(VSB Ex. H 16) 

314. Investigator Baker testified, that Respondent submitted Mr. George's affidavit 
(VSB Ex. H 15) in response to the complaint during his interview Investigator Baker. 
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315. Respondent represented that he and/or his staff sent Mr. Nichols a draft of his 
Writ of Actual Innocence for review on at least two occasions. In response to a VSB subpoena, 
Respondent produced a letter addressed to Mr. Nichols dated March 18, 2021 (without 
enclosures), purporting to enclose a copy of the writ (VSB Ex. Hl4), and Mr. George affirmed in 
his affidavit that he had most recently sent a copy of the writ to Mr. Nichols in December 2021 
(VSB Ex. Hl5 at ,-r2). 

316. Investigator Baker testified that he had reviewed the prison legal mail logs for Mr. 
Nichols and found that, contrary to Respondent's representations, no correspondence to Mr. 
Nichols from Respondent's office was received in either March 2021 or December 2021. 

317. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar failed to prove by clear and convincing 
evidence, the following violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct alleged in the 
Certification in the Nichols matter and dismisses the same: Rule l.3(a) (Diligence), Rule 1.5(a) 
(Fees), Rule 8.l(a) (Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters), and Rule 8.4(b) (Misconduct). 

318. The Court finds that the Virginia State Bar proved by clear and convincing 
evidence violations of the Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct in the Nichols matter and 
makes the following Findings of Misconduct: 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By failing to keep Mr. Nichols and his family properly informed of the status of the 
documents that Respondent was retained to file, Respondent violated Rule l.4(a). 

Rule 1.4 Communication 

(a) A lawyer shall keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter and 

promptly comply with reasonable requests for information. 

* * * * 

By failing to deposit the advance legal fees he received prior to March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account and instead placing them into his operating account, and by failing to keep the 
required records and perform the proper reconciliations of his trust account, Respondent 
violated Rule 1. 15 in effect prior to March 15, 2020 as follows. 

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 2013) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 
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(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

( 5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or third party without their 
consent or convert funds or property of a client or third party, except as directed by a 
tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1. 15 (a) through ( c ), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 
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( 1) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
(d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records 

* * * * 

By failing to properly deposit the advance legal fees paid after March 15, 2020 into his 
trust account, by not returning unearned fees when requested to do so, and instead converting 
those fees to himself, by failing to keep the records required, and by failing to perform the 
required reconciliation of his trust account as required after March 15, 2020, Respondent 
violated Rule 1.15 as follows. 

RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective 3.15.20) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 
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(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

* * * 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

(4) promptly pay or deliver to the client or another as requested by such person 
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the lawyer that such person 
is entitled to receive; and 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( l) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule l.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* * * * 
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(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 

* 

(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * 

By.failing to return all unearned.fees when requested to do so, Respondent violated Rule 
1.16(d). 

Rule 1.16 Declining Or Terminating Representation 

( d) Upon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably 
practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing 
time for employment of other counsel, refunding any advance payment of fee that has not been 
earned and handling records as indicated in paragraph ( e ). 

* * * * 

By allowing his staff to make.false statements to the client concerning the status of filings 

and by allowing his staff to make.false affidavits concerning the.filing of the Pardon Petition, 

Respondent did not take adequate steps to ensure compliance with the Virginia Rules of 

Professional Conduct, and by ratifying the above acts by producing the.false affidavit in 

response to the VSB 's subpoena duces tecum, Respondent violated Rule 5.3. 
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Rule 5.3 Responsibilities Regarding Nonlawyer Assistants 

With respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer: 

(a) a partner or a lawyer who individually or together with other lawyers possesses 

managerial authority in a law firm shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in 

effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person's conduct is compatible with the 

professional obligations of the lawyer; 

(b) a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make 

reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional 

obligations of the lawyer; and 

( c) a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of 

the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if: 

* 

(1) the lawyer orders or, with the knowledge of the specific conduct, ratifies the 

conduct involved; or 

(2) the lawyer is a partner or has managerial authority in the law firm in which the 

person is employed, or has direct supervisory authority over the person, and knows or 

should have known of the conduct at a time when its consequences can be avoided or 

mitigated but fails to take reasonable remedial action. 

* * * 

By producing the false affidavit in connection with the VSB 's investigation on the Nichols 
case, Respondent violated Rule 8. 1 (b). 

Rule 8.1 Bar Admission And Disciplinary Matters 

An applicant for admission to the bar, or a lawyer already admitted to the bar, in 
connection with a bar admission application, any certification required to be filed as a condition 
of maintaining or renewing a license to practice law, or in connection with a disciplinary matter, 
shall not: 

(b) fail to disclose a fact necessary to correct a misapprehension known by the person to 

have arisen in the matter; 

* * * * 
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By having Matthew George swear out the false affidavit, and by allowing his staff to 

make.false statements to the client and the VSB, Respondent violated Rule 8.4(a) and (c). 

Rule 8.4 Misconduct 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or 

induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 

* * * 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation which 

reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law; 

* * * * 

VSB DOCKET NO. 22-080-125496 
Complainant: Virginia State Bar/Trust Account 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

319. From at least August 1, 2017 through July of 2022, Respondent maintained his 
trust account at Wells Fargo, an account ending in 6634. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-85, 1349 and A-
417, 186) 

320. During that same time period, Respondent also maintained several other accounts 
at Wells Fargo, including an operating account ending in 6626. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-85, 1350 
and A-417, 186) 

321. From August 1, 2017 through December 1, 2017, the balance in Respondent's 
trust account remained the same at $51.26. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-85, 1351 and A-417, 186) 

322. The trust account statements for that time period show that Respondent made no 
deposits or withdrawals. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-85, 1352 and A-417, 186) 

323. During that same time, Respondent routinely received advance fees and flat fees 
from clients, either by check or electronic payments, that he failed to deposit into trust, and 
instead deposited directly into his operating account. (VSB Ex. A 1 at pp. A-85, 1353 and A-417, 
187) 

324. From August 1, 2017 through December 31, 2017, Respondent used his operating 
account as a de facto trust account. During that time period, Respondent paid personal 
obligations and debts from his operating account while holding client funds in that same account. 
(VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-85, 1354 and A-417, 187) 

72 



325. From January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the balance in Respondent's 
trust account remained the same at $51.26. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,355 and A-417, ,86) 

326. During that same time period, Respondent routinely received advance fees and 
flat fees from clients, either by check or electronic payments, that he failed to deposit into trust, 
and instead deposited directly into his operating account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,356 and A-
417, 187) 

327. During that same time, Respondent paid personal obligations and debts from his 
operating account while holding client funds in that same account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, 
,357 and A-417, ,87) 

328. From January 1, 2019 through May 21, 2019, the balance in Respondent's trust 
account was remained the same at $51.26. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,358 and A-417, ,86) 

329. On May 21, 2019, Respondent deposited into his trust account a check made 
payable to him in the amount of$194,135.99 paid by the Johnson Operating Account. (VSB Ex. 
Al at pp. A-86, ,359 and A-417, ,86) 

330. Respondent's trust account statement for May 2019 shows that the check in 
question was returned unpaid, and Respondent was assessed a fee of $12.00, leaving an ending 
balance in this trust account of $39.26. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,360 and A-417, ,86) 

331. From May 31, 2019 through September 4, 2019, the balance in Respondent's trust 
account remained the same at $39.26. Respondent made no deposits to or withdrawals from the 
trust account during that time period. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,361 and A-417, ,86) 

332. On September 5, 2019, Respondent deposited into his trust account a check in the 
amount of $209,698.17 payable to Randall Clark and Margaret Nowlin. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-
86, ,362 and A-417, ,86) 

333. On September 6, 2019, Respondent transferred $3,000.00 from his trust account 
into his operating account with the notation, "Checking funds to Heather and Bryant Nowlin." 
(VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,363 and A-417, ,86) 

334. On September 20, Respondent transferred $900.00 from his trust account into his 
operating account with the notation, "legal fees paid per client letter." (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, 
,364 and A-417, ,86) 

335. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account on September 20, 2019 was 
$205,837.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,365 and A-417, ,86) 

336. Respondent made no deposits to or withdrawals from his trust account during 
October 2019. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-86, ,366 and A-417, ,86) 
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337. On November 26, 2019, Respondent deposited a check into his trust account in 
the amount of $4,540.00 paid by the Litt Group, LLC, an entity in which Respondent owns an 
interest. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1367 and A-417, 186) 

338. On November 26, 2019, Respondent transferred $205,800.00 into his business 
market rate savings account at Wells Fargo, an account ending in 8631, funds that presumably 
belonged to Heather and Bryant Nowlin. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1368 and A-417, 186) 

339. On November 27, 2019, Respondent transferred $4,500.00 from his trust account 
into his Way2Save checking account ending in 9928. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1369 and A-417, 
186) 

340. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account on November 30, 2019 was 
$77.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1370 and A-417, 186) 

341. On December 2, 2019, Respondent deposited a check into his trust account in the 
amount of $7,000.00 paid by Penman Photography, LLC with the notation, "Fortune 
Settlement." (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1371 and A-417, 186) 

342. On December 11, 2019, Respondent transferred $7,000.00 from his trust account 
into his operating account ending in 6626. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1372 and A-417, 186) 

343. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account on December 31, 2019 was 
$77.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1373 and A-417, 186) 

344. Throughout 2019, Respondent routinely received advance fees and flat fees from 
clients, either by check or electronic payments, that he failed to deposit into trust, and instead 
deposited directly into his operating account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1374 and A-417, 187) 

345. During that same time, Respondent paid personal obligations and debts from his 
operating account while holding client funds in that same account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 
1375 and A-417, 187) 

346. From January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, Respondent made no deposits 
to or withdrawals from his trust account, and the balance of the trust account remained the same 
at $77.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 11376 and 377 and A-417, 186) 

347. Throughout 2020, Respondent routinely received advance fees and flat fees from 
clients, either by check or electronic payments, that he failed to deposit into trust, and instead 
deposited directly into his operating account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 1378 and A-417, 187) 

348. During that same time, Respondent paid personal obligations and debts from his 
operating account while holding client funds in that same account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-87, 
1379 and A-417, 187) 

349. The beginning balance in Respondent's trust account on January 1, 2021, was 
$77.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, 1380 and A-417, 186) 
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350. In January of 2021, VSB Investigator David Jackson provided Respondent a copy 
of LEO 1606. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1381 and A-417, i-186) 

351. Respondent testified that his interpretation of the rules with regard to handling 
advance fees was different from that of the Supreme Court of Virginia. However, he was 
demonstrably aware in 2017 that in the event of early termination, his client was entitled to a 
return of all unearned fees. (VSB Ex. H5) 

352. On February 8, 2021, Respondent transferred $3,500.00 from his operating 
account into his trust account, which represented the electronic payment made by Charnette 
Jones to pay for a case review for her fiance, Christopher Albert. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1382 
and A-417, i-186) 

353. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account on February 28, 2021, was 
$3,577.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1383 and A-417, i-186) 

354. From February 28, 2021 to September 13, 2021, Respondent made no deposits or 
withdrawals in his trust account and maintained a balance of $3,577.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-
88, i-1384 and A-417, i-186) 

355. Respondent completed his case review for Christopher Albert in February of 
2021. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1385 and A-417, i-186) 

356. On September 14, 2021, Respondent transferred $2,000.00 from his trust account 
into his operating account, leaving his trust account with an ending balance on September 30, 
2021 of $1,577.43. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1386 and A-417, i-186) 

357. On October l, 2021, Respondent deposited a check into his trust account in the 
amount of $4,500.00 paid by Rebecca Glass with the notation, "patent idea" in the memo line. 
(VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1387 and A-417, i-186) 

358. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account was $6,077.43 on October 29, 
2021. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, i-1388 and A-417, i-186) 

359. By not withdrawing all of the case review funds paid by Ms. Jones on behalf of 
Mr. Albert, Respondent comingled earned fees with other client fees he was holding in trust. 
(VSB Exs. 04 and 12). 

360. On November 12, 2021, Respondent transferred $4,500.00 from his trust account 
into his operating account, leaving a balance in his trust account of $1,577.43. (VSB Ex. Al at 
pp. A-88, i-1390 and A-417, i-186) 

361. On December 1, 2021, Respondent transferred $1,477.33 from his trust account 
into his operating account. (VSB Ex. A 1 at pp. A-88, i-1391 and A-417, i-186) 

362. On December 30, 2021, Respondent transferred $6,000.00 into his trust account 
from his operating account without any notation or reference as to whom the funds belonged or 
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for what purpose they were held in trust, as Respondent had previously made with other clients 
(such as Christopher Albert). (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, ,-r392 and A-417, ,-r86) 

363. The ending balance in Respondent's trust account on December 31, 2021, was 
$6,100.10. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-88, ,-r393 and A-417, ,-r86) 

364. Respondent stated to Investigator Baker that from May of 2020 through June of 
2021, Respondent made only one deposit into his trust account. (VSB Ex. Al at pp. A-89, ,-r394 
and A-417, ,-i86) 

365. Despite having knowledge of the requirements of LEO 1606 no later than January 
of 2021, Respondent continued to make deposits of advance fees and flat fees into his operating 
account before such fees had been earned until at least June of 2021. (VSB Ex. 14 ). 

366. In March of 2021, Respondent deposited the advance fee paid by Ms. Jones for 
Mr. Albert's motion to vacate into his operating account before such fees had been earned. (VSB 
Ex. 14) 

367. Investigator Baker testified that a review of Respondent's trust account records 
produced by Respondent for the years 2017 through 2021 showed that the records were not 
sufficient to meet the requirements of Rule 1.15( c) of the Virginia Rules of Professional 
Conduct. 

368. Investigator Baker testified that Respondent told him that Respondent did not 
perform the reconciliations required by Rule 1.15( d) of the Virginia Rules of Professional 
Conduct until sometime in 2022. 

369. Respondent testified that represented a client by the name of Phillip Holznecht in 
an arbitration proceeding, and that an award was issued in the amount of $600,000. 

370. Respondent deposited the $600,000 award into his trust account on March 4, 2022 
(VSB Ex. 12 at p. I-47) 

371. Respondent testified that due to disputes as to how the award funds were to be 
paid, Respondent maintained the funds in trust until an agreement was reached on how they were 
to be disbursed. 

372. Rather than disperse only his share of the proceeds from the trust account, 
Respondent transferred the full $600,000 into his operating account on July 12, 2022. (VSB Ex. 
Batp.I-187) 

373. Respondent also transferred settlement funds for another client in the amount of 
$188,452.70 from his trust account into his operating account on July 27, 2022. (VSB Ex. I3 at p. 
I-188) 
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374. Respondent paid Mr. Holznecht his share of the award proceeds via a check 
drawn on his operating account rather than a payment from his trust account. (VSB Ex. I-10 at p. 
I-321) 

375. Respondent testified that he paid the funds from his operating account because he 
did not have checks available for his trust account. 

FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT 

By failing to properly deposit client advance fees and retainers into trust and by 
depositing unearned fees into his operating account before and after March 15, 2020, by failing 
to withdraw fees earned in the Albert case after they were earned, by failing to keep proper 
client subsidiary ledgers and required journals before and qfter March 15, 2020, by.failing to 
reconcile his trust account as required both before and after March 15, 2020, , and by not 
properly handing settlement and award funds for his clients in July of 2022, Respondent violated 
Rule 1 .15 as follows. 

Rule 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective prior to March 15, 2020) 

(a)Depositing Funds. 

( 1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 

third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 

costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 

property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 

safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

(3) No funds belonging to the lawyer or law firm shall be deposited or maintained 

therein except as follows: 

(i) funds reasonably sufficient to pay service or other charges or fees 

imposed by the financial institution or to maintain a required minimum balance to 

avoid the imposition of service fees, provided the funds deposited are no more 

than necessary to do so; or 

(ii) funds in which two or more persons (one of whom may be the lawyer) 

claim an interest shall be held in the trust account until the dispute is resolved and 

there is an accounting and severance of their interests. Any portion finally 

determined to belong to the lawyer or law firm shall be withdrawn promptly from 

the trust account. 
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(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

(1) promptly notify a client of the receipt of the client's funds, securities, or other 

properties; 

(2) identify and label securities and properties of a client, or those held by a 

lawyer as a fiduciary, promptly upon receipt; 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 

client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 

client regarding them; 

* * * 

( 5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 

lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 

party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the 
following books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

( 1) Cash receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account, including 
entries for receipts, disbursements, and transfers, and also including, at a minimum: an 
identification of the client matter; the date of the transaction; the name of the payor or 
payee; and the manner in which trust funds were received, disbursed, or transferred from 
an account. 

(2) A subsidiary ledger containing a separate entry for each client, other person, 
or entity from whom money has been received in trust. 

The ledger should clearly identify: 

(i) the client or matter, including the date of the transaction and the payor 
or payee and the means or methods by which trust funds were received, disbursed 
or transferred; and 

(ii) any unexpended balance. 

(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 
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( 4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through (c), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

* 

( 1) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) Reconciliations. 

(i) At least quarterly a reconciliation shall be made that reflects the trust 
account balance for each client, person or other entity. 

(ii) A monthly reconciliation shall be made of the cash balance that is 
derived from the cash receipts journal, cash disbursements journal, the trust 
account checkbook balance and the trust account bank statement balance. 

(iii) At least quarterly, a reconciliation shall be made that reconciles the 
cash balance from (d)(3)(ii) above and the subsidiary ledger balance from 
(d)(3)(i). 

(iv) Reconciliations must be approved by a lawyer in the law firm. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the trust 
journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

* * * 

RULE 1.15 Safekeeping Property (Effective March 15, 2020) 

(a) Depositing Funds. 

(1) All funds received or held by a lawyer or law firm on behalf of a client or a 
third party, or held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, other than reimbursement of advances for 
costs and expenses shall be deposited in one or more identifiable trust accounts; all other 
property held on behalf of a client should be placed in a safe deposit box or other place of 
safekeeping as soon as practicable. 

* * * 

79 



(3) No funds belonging to the lawyer or law firm shall be deposited or maintained 
therein except as follows: 

(i) funds reasonably sufficient to pay service or other charges or fees 
imposed by the financial institution or to maintain a required minimum balance to 
avoid the imposition of service fees, provided the funds deposited are no more 
than necessary to do so; or 

(ii) funds in which two or more persons (one of whom may be the lawyer) 
claim an interest shall be held in the trust account until the dispute is resolved and 
there is an accounting and severance of their interests. Any portion finally 
determined to belong to the lawyer or law firm shall be withdrawn promptly from 
the trust account. 

(b) Specific Duties. A lawyer shall: 

( 1) promptly notify a client of the receipt of the client's funds, securities, or other 
properties; 

(2) identify and label securities and properties of a client, or those held by a 
lawyer as a fiduciary, promptly upon receipt; 

(3) maintain complete records of all funds, securities, and other properties of a 
client coming into the possession of the lawyer and render appropriate accountings to the 
client regarding them; 

* * * 

(5) not disburse funds or use property of a client or of a third party with a valid 
lien or assignment without their consent or convert funds or property of a client or third 
party, except as directed by a tribunal. 

(c) Record-Keeping Requirements. A lawyer shall, at a minimum, maintain the following 
books and records demonstrating compliance with this Rule: 

(1) Receipts and disbursements journals for each trust account. These journals 
shall include, at a minimum: identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the 
transaction; name of the payor or payee; manner in which the funds were received, 
disbursed, or transferred; and current balance. A checkbook or transaction register may 
be used in lieu of separate receipts and disbursements journals as long as the above 
information is included. 

(2) A client ledger with a separate record for each client, other person, or entity 
from whom money has been received in trust. Each entry shall include, at a minimum: 
identification of the client or matter; date and amount of the transaction; name of the 
payor or payee; source of funds received or purpose of the disbursement; and current 
balance. 
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(3) In the case of funds or property held by a lawyer as a fiduciary, the required 
books and records shall include an annual summary of all receipts and disbursements and 
changes in assets comparable in detail to an accounting that would be required of a court 
supervised fiduciary in the same or similar capacity; including all source documents 
sufficient to substantiate the annual summary. 

(4) All records subject to this Rule shall be preserved for at least five calendar 
years after termination of the representation or fiduciary responsibility. 

( d) Required Trust Accounting Procedures. In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Rule 1.15 (a) through ( c ), the following minimum trust accounting procedures are applicable to 
all trust accounts. 

(I) Insufficient Fund Reporting. All accounts are subject to the requirements 
governing insufficient fund check reporting as set forth in the Virginia State Bar 
Approved Financial Institution Agreement. 

(2) Deposits. All trust funds received shall be deposited intact. Mixed trust and 
non-trust funds shall be deposited intact into the trust fund and the non-trust portion shall 
be withdrawn upon the clearing of the mixed fund deposit instrument. All such deposits 
should include a detailed deposit slip or record that sufficiently identifies each item. 

(3) The following reconciliations must be made monthly and approved by a 
lawyer in the law firm: 

(i) reconciliation of the client ledger balance for each client, other person, 
or entity on whose behalf money is held in trust; 

(ii) reconciliation of the trust account balance, adjusting the ending bank 
statement balance by adding any deposits not shown on the statement and 
subtracting any checks or disbursements not shown on the statement. This 
adjusted balance must equal the balance in the checkbook or transaction register; 
and 

(iii) reconciliation of the trust account balance ((d)(3)(ii)) and the client 
ledger balance ((d)(3)(i)). The trust account balance must equal the client ledger 
balance. 

( 4) The purpose of all receipts and disbursements of trust funds reported in the 
trust journals and ledgers shall be fully explained and supported by adequate records. 

IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS 

The Court then proceeded to the sanctions phase of the proceeding on the morning of 

October 26, 2023. The VSB and Respondent presented opening statements. 
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The VSB incorporated by reference all of the exhibits introduced and the testimony 

elicited during the Misconduct phase of the hearing and then called Flora Skipwith and Thomas 

Purcell as witnesses. The VSB provided the Court with Respondent's prior disciplinary history 

with the VSB which was marked VSB Ex. S l and received into evidence. 

Thereafter, the VSB rested its case in the Sanctions phase of the hearing. 

Respondent likewise incorporated all of his exhibits and testimony introduced during the 

Misconduct phase and called only himself as a witness. 

Counsel for the VSB and Respondent presented argument regarding the sanction to be 

imposed on Respondent for the Misconduct found, and the Court recessed to deliberate. 

DETERMINATION 

After due consideration of the evidence as to mitigation and aggravation and argument of 

counsel, the Court reconvened to announce its sanction of REVOCATION of Respondent's 

license to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia, effective immediately on October 26, 

2023. 

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED that Respondent's license to practice law in the 

Commonwealth of Virginia be and same is hereby REVOKED, effective October 26, 2023. 

It is further ORDERED that Respondent must comply with the requirements of Part Six, 

Section IV, Paragraph 13-29 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. Respondent must 

forthwith give notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the suspension of his license 

to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia, to all clients for whom he is currently handling 

matters and to all opposing attorneys and presiding judges in pending litigation. Respondent 

must also make appropriate arrangements for the disposition of matters then in his care in 

conformity with the wishes of his clients. Respondent must give such notice immediately and in 
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no event later than 14 days of the effective date of the suspension, and make such arrangements 

as are required herein as soon as practicable and in no event later than 45 days of the effective 

date of the suspension. Respondent must also furnish proof to the VSB within 60 days of the 

effective date of the suspension that such notices have been timely given and such arrangements 

made for the disposition of matters. 

It is further ORDERED that if Respondent is not handling any client matters on the 

effective date of the suspension, he must submit an affidavit to that effect to the Clerk of the 

Disciplinary System of the VSB. All issues concerning the adequacy of the notice and 

arrangements required by Paragraph 13-29 must be determined by the VSB Disciplinary Board. 

It is further ORDERED that the Clerk of the Disciplinary System of the VSB must 

assess all costs pursuant to Paragraph 13-9.E. 

It is further ORDERED that the Clerk must send a copy teste of this Memorandum Order 

to Respondent, Dale Reese Jensen, by certified mail, return receipt requested, to 606 Bull Run, 

Staunton, Virginia 24401, his address of record with the VSB; to Joanne Fronfelter, Clerk of the 

Disciplinary System, Virginia State Bar, 1111 E. Main Street, Suite 700, Richmond, VA 23219, 

and to Paulo E. Franco, Jr., Assistant Bar Counsel, Virginia State Bar, 1111 E. Main Street, Suite 

700, Richmond, VA 23219. 

[SECTION INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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The proceedings were transcribed by Angelique Showalter of Reporting Service, Inc., 57 

South Main Street, Suite 202, Harrisonburg, Virginia 22801, phone number (540) 434-3232. 

ENTERED this ff day of 

Cheryl 

SEEN: 

Virginia State Bar 
Paulo E. Franco, Jr., Assistant Bar Counsel 
Seth T. Shelley, Assistant Bar Counsel 
1111 East Main Street, Suite 700 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 
(804) 775-9419 (0) 
(804) 944-1463 (C) 
franco@vsb.org 

Ill 

fj Mtmktvi 2023 

Objected to for all of the reasons stated in the pleadings, 
hearings, and trial. Further objected to in the written 

SEEN AND objections submitted herewith 

Dale Reese Jensen, prose 
606 Bull Run 
Staunton, Virginia 22401 
(540) 255-7188 
djensen@jensenjustice.com 
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Respondent's Objections to 
FINAL MEMORANDUM ORDER 
Filed by Virginia State Bar 

Respondent renews his objection to the trial being held between October 23-26, 2023. 
Respondent moved to continue the trial based upon his inability to be prepared for same. 
Respondent's proper preparations for trial were not possible due to his wife having been gravely 
ill with an aggressive cancer during the entirety of 2023. During the entirety of 2023, 
Respondent's wife has been bedridden and has required Respondent's conii~W c~re a~d 
attention. Respondent was and is his wife's sole caretaker. Respondent11s,,uli~~1eon?e~tfOP 
prepare the very limited defensive exhibits used at trial until after midn· o~~';z~fl'IU 
2023. Respondent was operating on limited sleep during the entirety o t-iRcR,,~~lli:l 
impaired his ability to properly present his case. For example, allegations~~,,fM~ttJ :>l(I 
Respondent's fees were unreasonable and that somehow Respondent showing<l!19~urly 
rate for post-conviction relief purposes was also unreasonable. Respondent avers that during all 
relevant time periods, the law firm of Dale Jensen, PLC operated at significant annual loss. Dale 
Jensen, PLC was only able to sustain operation via borrowed funds. It is simply beyond the pale 
that amount billed to the complainants at issue were unreasonable when such funds, along 
with funds from other work, were insufficient for Dale Jensen, PLC to operate at a profit. It is 
axiomatic that a law firm must bill at rates sufficient to cover its costs. Evidence to that effect 
should have been a part of Respondent's case, but Respondent did not have time to properly 
prepare. As another example, the Bar impugned Respondent's integrity because he 
misremembered the identity of a forensic psychiatric professional that was denied access to a 
client in the Virginia Department of Corrections. Had Respondent had additional time, evidence 
would have been presented that, although Anita Boss was planned for use to conduct an 
examination of one of the complainants, Eugene Fredo, it was actually another forensic 
psychologist that was denied access by the Virginia Department of Corrections. That 
psychologist, Sahair Monfared was informed that she would not be allowed to examine a client 
in Greensville Correctional Center. Had Respondent had sufficient time to prepare for trial, the 
Respondent would have been able to more fully review case notes to refresh his memory. As a 
related issue, the Respondent should have been allowed time to prepare evidence that the 
Virginia Department of Corrections would not allow any visitors whatsoever, including forensic 
psychologists during most of 2020 and 2021 due to COVID-19. The failure to grant Respondent 
a continuance violated Respondent's due process rights. 

Respondent further reiterates his objections to the admission of hearsay testimony at the 
hearing including, without limitation, the testimony of hearsay evidence by each and every 
witness of the Virginia State Bar (the "Bar"), specifically including testimony of Robert Baker 
relating hearsay statements allegedly made to him by third parties, and the affidavits of Phillip 
Ostrander, Michael Robinson, Christopher Albert, Antonio Townsend, Maria Lankford, Eugene 
Fredo, and Nahfis Nichols. The admission of hearsay violated the constitutional due process 
rights of the Respondent. Some of the hearsay even included double hearsay statements about 
what third parties allegedly said. 



The Respondent also specifically objects to the so-called conclusion of law to the extent that 
they merely state facts rather than pertain to actual law. Specifically, Respondent objects to 
the numbered paragraphs as follows: 

1. Paragraph 1 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
2. Paragraph 2 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
3. The Respondent also specifically objects to the so-called conclusion of law #3 of the 

Order of this case that "Case law in Virginia prior to 2016 recognized that defective 
indictments were procedural in nature and could, therefore, be waived." This so-called 
conclusion of law is contrary to the plain language of the Fifth Amendment to the United 
States Constitution, which is superior authority to any and all contrary Virginia "case 
law". The Bar apparently does not believe that the Courts of Virginia are subject to the 
United States Constitution and respondent objects accordingly. 

4. The Respondent also specifically objects to the so-called conclusion of law #4 that 
asserts that the plain language of the Fifth Amendment is merely a "theory". The 
Respondent specifically objects to any and all assertions in the final order of the case 
that are contrary to the Fifth Amendment rights of those represented by the 
Respondent. The enumerated civil rights of the Bill or Rights are supreme legal authority 
and the Virginia State Bar as well as the courts of Virginia should enforce all of those civil 
rights, including the enumerated right of citizens to not be tried for any infamous crime 
unless properly indicted by a grand jury. Paragraph 4 is objected to because it is a 
statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

5. The Respondent also specifically objects to the so-called conclusion of law #5 that 
asserts that the plain language of the Fifth Amendment is merely a "theory". The 
Respondent specifically objects to any and all assertions in the final order of the case 
that are contrary to the Fifth Amendment rights of those represented by the 
Respondent. The enumerated civil rights of the Bill or Rights are supreme legal authority 
and the Virginia State Bar as well as the courts of Virginia should enforce all of those civil 
rights, including the enumerated right of citizens to not be tried for any infamous crime 
unless properly indicted by a grand jury. Paragraph 5 is objected to because it is a 
statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

6. Paragraph 6 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
7. Paragraph 7 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

Respondent further avers that the plain language of the Fifth Amendment is superior 
authority to Epps and that basic constitutional rights, such as the right to a grand jury 
indictment are not "procedural" and that Epps is in error because of that. 

8. Paragraph 8 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
9. Paragraph 9 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
10. Paragraph 10 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
11. Paragraph 11 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
12. Paragraph 12 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
13. Paragraph 13 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
14. Paragraph 14 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

Respondent further objects to any finding concerning Ms. Liu as irrelevant to any of the 
claims in the subject case. 



15. Paragraph 15 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
16. Paragraph 16 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
17. Paragraph 17 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

Respondent further objects to any finding concerning Ms. Liu as irrelevant to any of the 
claims in the subject case. 

18. Paragraph 18 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
19. Paragraph 19 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 

Respondent further objects to any finding concerning Ms. Liu as irrelevant to any of the 
claims in the subject case. 

20. Paragraph 20 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
21. Paragraph 21 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
22. Paragraph 22 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
23. Paragraph 23 is objected to because it relies upon hearsay statements that violated 

Respondent's due process rights. Respondent could not cross-examine affidavits. The 
Respondent also specifically objects to any and all assertions in the final order of the 
case that are contrary to the Fifth Amendment rights of those represented by the 
Respondent. The enumerated civil rights of the Bill or Rights are supreme legal authority 
and the Virginia State Bar as well as the courts of Virginia should enforce all of those civil 
rights, including the enumerated right of citizens to not be tried for any infamous crime 
unless properly indicted by a grand jury. 

24. Paragraph 24 is objected to because it relies upon hearsay statements that violated 
Respondent's due process rights. Respondent could not cross-examine affidavits. 
Paragraph 24 is also objected to as being unduly vague and not properly evidenced as it 
fails to identify the "subsequent clients". Respondent also specifically objects to any and 
all assertions in the final order of the case that are contrary to the Fifth Amendment 
rights of those represented by the Respondent. The enumerated civil rights of the Bill or 
Rights are supreme legal authority and the Virginia State Bar as well as the courts of 
Virginia should enforce all of those civil rights, including the enumerated right of citizens 
to not be tried for any infamous crime unless properly indicted by a grand jury. 

25. Paragraph 25 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
26. Paragraph 26 is objected to because it is overinclusive and was not properly proven as to 

"all of these cases". For example, all funds paid on behalf of Philip Ostrander 
("Ostrander") were not mishandled. No fees were paid in advance of work performed 
for Ostrander as proved by time records introduced in evidence by the Respondent. All 
fees paid on behalf of Ostrander were earned prior to deposit. In addition, evidence 
time records introduced in evidence by the Respondent proved that fees paid by 
Christopher Albert were earned prior to payment of those fees. 

27. Paragraph 27 is objected to because it is a statement of fact and not a conclusion of law. 
Paragraph 27 is further objected to because evidence at trial fell below the clear and 
convincing evidence standard as to funds paid in the Albert matter. 

Ostrander 
Findings of Fact 

28. No Objections. 



29. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights to cross-examine Ostrander. 

30. Objected to the extent of its reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

31. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. There was no evidence beyond the hearsay statements of Philip 
Ostrander ("Ostrander"), a convicted felon with convictions that included crimes of 
moral turpitude, that any fees paid on his behalf were advance fees. Instead, Ostrander 
proffered a naked assertion in his affidavit that $15,000 was allegedly paid to 
Respondent with no receipts or documentation. Respondent provided records and 
testified that all funds were earned prior to payment and the amount paid on 
Ostrander's behalf was substantially less than $15,000. The naked assertions of felon 
Ostrander fall far below the clear and convincing evidence threshold. The motivation for 
Ostrander's lies has become apparent since the proposal of this Order to this Court. 
Ostrander has filed a request to be reimbursed by the Virginia State Bar for a full 
$15,000 notwithstanding that Ostrander never personally paid any funds to Respondent. 
Further objected to because the statements are false and contradicted by Respondent's 
Exhibit 1. Respondent testified that Ostrander's mother had paid only a total of $10,500 
over a somewhat extended period of time. All funds paid by Ostrander's mother were 
for work had previously been completed and were not advanced fees. Despite having 
subpoenaed all of Respondent's bank records during all relevant time periods, the bar 
presented no evidence of such a payment. Further, Ostrander's motivation to lie has 
become apparent in that he has personally made a claim against the Victim's recovery 
fund of the Bar to recover far more money than his family (which family members that 
actually paid respondent are not parties to the request) paid respondent. This, even 
though Respondent performed work valued significantly above the actual payments 
made by Ostrander's family on his behalf. It is apparent that Ostrander lied in hopes of 
obtaining a windfall from the Bar. 

32. Respondent made no admissions to Investigator Baker about having received any 
advance payments from Ostrander and this statement does not accurately reflect 
payments made for and on behalf of Ostrander. 

33. Respondent made no admissions to Investigator Baker about having received any 
advance payments from Ostrander and this statement does not accurately reflect 
payments made for and on behalf of Ostrander. 

34. Respondent made no admissions that any advance payments were paid on Ostrander's 
behalf and this statement does not accurately reflect payments made for and on behalf 
of Ostrander or Respondent's trial testimony as to Ostrander. 

35. No Objections. 
36. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 

process rights. 
37. Objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted Ostrander's hearsay 

affidavit. Respondent presented a letter as evidence in which he advised Ostrander of 
the files the federal litigation referenced in paragraph 37. Respondent's Exhibit 3. This 
"fact" was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 



38. No Objections. 
39. No Objections. 
40. Objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted Ostrander's hearsay 

affidavit. This "fact" was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
41. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 

process rights. 
42. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 

process rights. Further objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted 
Ostrander's hearsay affidavit. This "fact" was not proved by clear and convincing 
evidence. 

43. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. Further objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted 
Ostrander's hearsay affidavit and the self-serving and false testimony of Ms. Sherman­
Stoltz. Respondent proved that Ms. Sherman-Stoltz lied to the Court in asserting that an 
e-mail sent by a subordinate requested the file. Respondent produced the actual e-mail 
and proved that there was no such a request for Ostrander's file. Respondent testified 
that he received no requests for Ostrander's file until after the second federal lawsuit 
had been dismissed. The second federal lawsuit was dismissed solely because Ms. 
Sherman-Stoltz failed to properly act in the case. After she became counsel of record, 
Ms. Sherman-Stoltz did nothing to move the case forward of even serve process. 
Indeed, it is Ms. Sherman-Stoltz that should have been investigated by the Virginia State 
Bar as to the federal case dismissal rather than the Respondent. This "fact" was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

44. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. Further objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted 
Ostrander's hearsay affidavit. Respondent testified that he advised Ostrander of filing 
the entirely new case. Indeed, Respondent testified that much of the content of the 
added content in the new case in order to address issues of the initial filing was obtained 
from Ostrander directly. Further, there was no evidence that supported the naked 
assertion that "Respondent did not correct the deficiencies that resulted in the dismissal of 
the prior Federal Civil Action". The pages cited in Exhibit B2 simply do not support that 
naked assertion and there was no testimony that supports it either. In fact, the referenced 
"Second Federal Civil Action" was dismissed solely because of Ms. Sherman-Stoltz 
incompetence of not serving the complaint of the case or amending the complaint if she 
thought that it should be amended. This "fact" was not proved by clear and convincing 
evidence. 

45. No Objections. 
46. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 

process rights. Further objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted 
Ostrander's hearsay affidavit. The second federal case was filed as a matter of legal 
strategy to avoid additional service of process issues from the first case. Most of the 
new content in the second case was obtained from Ostrander after a full discussion with 
Ostrander about the case and how it would move forward. This "fact" was not proved 
by clear and convincing evidence. 



47. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. Further objected to because Respondent's sworn testimony contradicted 
Ostrander's hearsay affidavit and the self-serving testimony of Ms. Sherman-Stoltz. 
Respondent proved that Ms. Sherman-Stoltz lied to the Court in asserting that an e-mail 
sent by a subordinate requested the file. Respondent produced the actual e-mail and 
proved that there was no such request for Ostrander's file. Further, Nicholas Ostrander 
lacked personal knowledge about the files or requests therefor and did not testify as 
alleged by the Bar. This "fact" was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

48. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. 

49. Objected to because of reliance on a hearsay declaration that violated Respondent's due 
process rights. 

50. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.1- the claimed violations are predicated upon Ostrander's hearsay 
affidavit which was contradicted by Respondent's sworn testimony. Rule 1.1-
the claimed violations are predicated upon Ostrander's hearsay affidavit which 
was contradicted by Respondent's sworn testimony. Respondent produced a 
statutory reference showing that the strategy implemented by Respondent did 
not cause the statute of limitations expired. Respondent's Exhibit 10. The stilted 
testimony of Ms. Sherman-Stoltz concerning Va. Code 8.01-229 proved her 
unfamiliarity with the statute of limitations in Ostrander's case. Indeed, any 
statute of limitations issues were solely as a result of the failure of Ms. Sherman­
Stoltz to do anything in the case after she became counsel of record. This 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] 1 was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.4 - the claimed violations are predicated upon Ostrander's hearsay 
affidavit which was contradicted by Respondent's sworn testimony. This asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - the claimed violations are predicated upon Ostrander's hearsay 
affidavit which was contradicted by Respondent's sworn testimony. There was 
no evidence that any fees paid on Ostrander's behalf were advance fees. This 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.16 - Respondent testified that during the time period when Ms. Sherman­
Stoltz was involved in the case that any request was ever made for Mr. 
Ostrander's file. Respondent proved that Ms. Sherman-Stoltz lied to the Court in 
asserting that an e-mail sent by a subordinate requested the file. Respondent 
produced the actual e-mail and proved that there was no such a request for 
Ostrander's file. This asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 

1 Respondent notes the hypocrisy of the Bar in assailing Respondent as to properly proof-reading pleadings. In its 
"FINAL MEMORANDUM order, the Bar repeatedly misspells the word "MISCONDUCT" apparently believing that 
different rules apply to counsel for the Bar compared to those asserted against the Respondent. 



Skipwith 
Findings of Fact 

51. No Objections. 
52. No Objections. 
53. No Objections. 
54. No Objections. 
55. No Objections. 
56. No Objections. 
57. No Objections. 
58. No Objections. 
59. No Objections. 
60. No Objections. 
61. No Objections. 
62. Objected to in part because Respondent's testimony contradicted the asserted "facts" in 

part. Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being the supreme law 
of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced case law was or is 
superior authority to the United States Constitution. Taken in total, the asserted "facts" 
as stated were not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

63. No Objections. 
64. No Objections. 
65. No Objections. 
66. No Objections. 
67. No Objections. 
68. No Objections. 
69. Objected to because of hearsay testimony of Ms. Skipwith as to actions of Mr. Robinson. 

Respondent's due process rights were violated by not being able to cross-examine Mr. 
Robinson. 

70. No Objections. 
71. No Objections. 
72. Objection to as lacking context. Withdrawal was mandated by an earlier suspension of 

Respondent for two months in 2022. Respondent testified that Mr. Robinson terminated 
Respondent during that suspension, which rendered Respondent powerless to further 
pursue Mr. Robinson's case. 

73. No Objections. 
74. No Objections. 
75. No Objections. 
76. No Objections. 
77. No Objections. 
78. Objected as being contrary to the evidence at trial. Ms. Skipwith testified that she 

attended the entirety of the hearing in October 2022. The cited transfer of disputed 
funds into Respondent's trust account was clearly testified to at that trial. This alleged 
"fact" was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 



79. Objected to as lacking context. Ms. Skipwith's request was for a full refund of $25,000 
notwithstanding extensive work performed by Respondent on Mr. Robinson's behalf. 

80. Objected to as being contrary to testimony at trial. Respondent testified that the funds 
in the trust account were in dispute and that there was a large disparity between the full 
$25,000 refund demanded by Skipwith and the amount of fees that Respondent was 
willing to refund. Respondent believes all fees were earned and the amount held in 
trust are disputed funds. This alleged "fact" lacks that context and is misleading as a 
consequence. 

81. Objected to as being contrary to testimony at trial. Respondent testified that the funds 
in the trust account were in dispute and that there was a large disparity between the full 
$25,000 refund demanded by Skipwith and the amount of fees that Respondent was 
willing to refund. Respondent believes all fees were earned and the amount held in 
trust are disputed funds. This alleged "fact" lacks that context and is misleading as a 
consequence. 

82. Objected to as being contrary to testimony at trial. Respondent testified that the funds 
in the trust account were in dispute and that there was a large disparity between the full 
$25,000 refund demanded by Skipwith and the amount of fees that Respondent was 
willing to refund. Respondent believes all fees were earned and the amount held in 
trust are disputed funds. Respondent testified that some funds might be returned, but 
such return would be conditioned upon such funds being a full settlement of all disputes 
of the parties as to fees. To date, Skipwith has failed to indicate that she is willing to 
resolve the dispute for anything less than the full $25,000. Indeed, Skipwith has filed a 
claim with the Victim's Recovery Fund for the entire $25,000 despite a massive amount 
of attorney time expended on Mr. Robinson's behalf. This alleged "fact" lacks that 
context and is misleading. 

83. Objected to as lacking context in view of the testimony at trial. Respondent testified 
that there was no agreement with either Skipwith or Robinson as to an hourly rate that 
would be charged if a dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. Respondent 
reported time spent on the documents submitted in the VSB response based upon a 
default rate of $300 per hour in the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After 
additional review of the firm finances and the true overhead costs of representing 
inmates, Respondent determined that a $600 per hour rate is more reflective of the 
actual cost to the firm of inmate representation. The alleged "facts" of this paragraph 
lack that context. 

84. No Objections. 
85. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
86. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact, 

which legal conclusion is in error as to: 
Rule 1.15 - the claimed violations are predicated upon the disputed fees 
transferred to the trust account were "converted". The assertion that the fees 
were unearned was contradicted by Respondent's testimony as time records for 
work performed on Robinson's behalf. Exhibit 16. Because of bimonthly 
certifications of compliance with Rule 1.15 as required under the 2022 order of 
this Court, the Bar knows that the disputed $6,120 remains in the trust account. 



There was no evidence of conversion presented at trial. This asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.16- the claimed violations are predicated upon the disputed fees 
transferred to the trust account were "unearned". The assertion that the fees 
were unearned was contradicted by Respondent's testimony as well as 
Respondent's Exhibit 16. This asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.4 - the claimed violations are predicated upon the disputed fees 
transferred to the trust account were "unearned". The assertion that the fees 
were unearned was contradicted by Respondent's testimony as well as 
Respondent's Exhibit 16. Respondent never "acknowledged" that the disputed 
amount held in trust were unearned. This asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

Charnette Jones 
Findings of Fact 

87. No Objections. 
88. No Objections. 
89. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of Mr. 

Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated Respondent's 
due process rights. 

90. No Objections. 
91. No Objections. 
92. No Objections. 
93. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of Mr. 

George, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated Respondent's 
due process rights. 

94. No Objections. 
95. No Objections. 
96. No Objections. 
97. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that during the referenced time 

period that he had received periodic additional case review payments from clients. 
These payments were received prior to Respondent taking training in trust account 
accounting procedures. In hindsight, Respondent should have explicitly withdrawn Mr. 
Albert's funds and showed an equal transfer back in for the client paying funds in the 
same amount as those of Albert. Respondent denied having any amounts in the trust 
account that were not appropriately there. 

98. Objected to as lacking context. There was no evidence at trial that Ms. Jones ever 
expressed that she preferred to pursue a pardon. 

99. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. George, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. These asserted "facts" are also belied by the 
Engagement Letter shown as VSB Exhs D6 and 08, which clearly shows three levels of 



appeal were contemplated in the representation. No one person in their right mind 
would assert or believe that such a process would be completed with "48 to 72 hours". 
This statement is an apparent lie by a person that admitted to being convicted of crimes 
of moral turpitude. Accordingly, Respondent objects to the assertions of paragraph 99 
fell short of the clear and convincing evidence standard in view of Respondent's 
testimony. 

100. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

101. No Objections. 
102. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 

the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 

103. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 

104. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 

105. Objected to because Ms. Jones testimony was contradicted by Respondent. Ms. Jones 
admitted to being a convicted felon and her testimony fell short of proving this asserted 
fact by clear and convincing evidence. Moreover, Mr. Albert should have been released 
pursuant to the Motion to Vacate filed on his behalf. The court that denied said motion 
should have recognized and followed the United States Constitution as being the 
supreme law of the land. 

106. No Objections. 
107. Objected to because the asserted "fact" is contrary to testimony at trial. Respondent 

testified that the referenced "order", which was only located by the court after the 
motion to vacate was filed, speaks for itself and is defective because it does not prove 
that the indictment was returned in open court as required under Virginia law. VSB 
Exhibit I to certification; Virginia Supreme Court Rule 3A:S(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18. 

108. Objected to as lacking context. Courts speak through their orders and the referenced 
alleged "indictment" were not of record in compliance with at least Virginia Supreme 
Court Rule 3A:S(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18 

109. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that the referenced "order", 
which speaks for itself does not prove that the indictment was returned in open court as 
required under Virginia law. VSB Exhibit I to certification; Virginia Supreme Court Rule 
3A:S(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18. 

110. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that the referenced "order", 
which speaks for itself does not prove that the indictment was returned in open court as 
required under Virginia law. VSB Exhibit I to certification; Virginia Supreme Court Rule 
3A:S(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18. 

111. No Objections. 
112. No Objections. 



113. Objected to because the initial payment was received for work previously performed 
by Respondent. Respondent's Exhibit 19. 

114. No Objections. 
115. Objected to because the payments were received for work previously performed by 

Respondent. Respondent's Exhibit 19. Further objected to as lacking context. 
Respondent had not had time to fully understand LEO 1606 and certainly did not realize 
that the Bar incorporated it into the Rules of Professional Conduct without referring to it 
in said rules. 

116. Objected to because the payments were received for work previously performed by 
Respondent and were not advance payments for work. Respondent's Exhibit 19. 

117. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that the indictment was and is 
defective because the referenced "order", which speaks for itself does not state that the 
indictment was returned in open court as required under Virginia law. VSB Exhibit I to 
certification; Virginia Supreme Court Rule 3A:5(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18. 
Accordingly, Albert was not properly indicted. 

118. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with either Ms. Jones or Mr. Albert as to an hourly rate that would be charged if a 
dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. Respondent reported time spent on the 
documents submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in 
the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of the firm finances 
and the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent determined that a 
$600 per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate 
representation. The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. Moreover, 
Investigator Baker was not qualified as an expert in human psychology and provided no 
basis for his subjective belief about Respondent. 

119. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with either Ms. Jones or Mr. Albert as to an hourly rate that would be charged if a 
dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. Respondent reported time spent on the 
documents submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in 
the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of the firm finances 
and the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent determined that a 
$600 per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate 
representation. The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. 

120. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent never had a discussion with Mr. Baker 
concerning a proper hourly rate. Respondent reported time spent on the documents 
submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in the 
timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of the firm finances and 
the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent determined that a $600 
per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate representation. 
The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. 

121. Objected to as being contrary to the evidence presented in the case. Respondent 
testified that significant work was performed on Mr. Albert's pleadings. Respondent's 
Exhibit 20 showed differences between the pleadings filed for Mr. Albert - they were not 



proved to be "identical" in almost all respects. This asserted fact was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 

122. Objected to as being contrary to Respondent's testimony. Objected to as drawing 
improper inferences. The work performed on Mr. Albert's behalf included significant 
case law and document review in order to confirm that the best arguments possible 
were being made on behalf of Mr. Albert. This asserted fact was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 

123. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that his staff obtained all records 
that court staff provided. The records were obtained during a time period when COVID-
19 restrictions severely limited access to such records. Ex post, Attorney Robert Taylor 
had no such restrictions later. Moroever, Respondent testified that the indictment was 
and is defective because the referenced "order", which speaks for itself does not state 
that the indictment was returned in open court as required under Virginia law. VSB 
Exhibit I to certification; Virginia Supreme Court Rule 3A:S(c) - Respondent's Exhibit 18. 
Moreover, the United States Constitution is the controlling authority in Mr. Albert's case 
and his case was properly and thoroughly briefed. There was simply no requirement 
under the ethical rules to cite to either Epps because it is not controlling authority- the 
United States Constitution was and is the controlling authority. 

124. Respondent objects to this asserted "fact". The motion filed by Albert was not the 
"same motion" filed on behalf of Ostrander. The United States Constitution is the 
controlling authority in Mr. Albert's case and his case was properly and thoroughly 
briefed. There was simply no requirement under the ethical rules to cite to Ostrander 

because it is not controlling authority - the United States Constitution was and is the 
controlling authority. 

125. Objected to because Respondent's testimony differed from that of Ms. Jones. 
Respondent testified that there were numerous calls with Ms. Jones during the 
referenced time period. The asserted "facts" of this paragraph were not proved by clear 
and convincing evidence. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from 
hearsay testimony of Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination. 

126. Objected to because Ms. Jones did not provide any testimony as to how she 
determined that her number had been "blocked". Respondent denied having blocked 
her number. The asserted "facts" of this paragraph were not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 

127. Objected to as lacking context. The asserted "facts" ignore the strictures on court 
hearings in 2021 caused by COVID-19. Respondent testified that when hearings were 
allowed to resume, he made inquiries with the court and was advised that the 
Commonwealth's Attorney was the only one allowed to set hearings. Respondent made 
several attempts to contact the Commonwealth's Attorney but did not have any of his 
calls returned until approximately March of 2023. 

128. No Objections. 
129. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 

Ms. Cox, who was not made available for cross-examination. No evidence was 
presented that Ms. Cox would have had personal knowledge of calls made to the court 
or the Commonwealth's Attorney's office. 



130. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Ms. Cox or the person in the Commonwealth's Attorney's office that she allegedly 
contacted (double hearsay), neither of which was not made available for cross­
examination in violation of Respondent's due process rights. No evidence was presented 
that Ms. Cox would have had personal knowledge of calls made to the court or the 
Commonwealth's Attorney's office. 

131. No Objections. 
132. No Objections. 
133. No Objections. 
134. No Objections. 
135. No Objections. 
136. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 

Ms. Cox, who was not made available for cross-examination. No evidence was 
presented that Ms. Cox would have had personal knowledge of calls made to the court 
or the Commonwealth's Attorney's office. 

137. Objected to as not reflecting the full testimony of Ms. Jones. No photographs were 
taken by Ms. Jones of Respondent's actual office door or even the door of the suite of 
Respondent's office. Only photographs of the door entering the building were placed in 
evidence. No explanation was provided by Ms. Jones as to why, if she actually delivered 
the letter, why she did not show either Respondent's office door or at least the door 
entering the suite in which Respondent's office is located. Upon cross examination, Ms. 
Jones could not even correctly identify that either of those doors were wooden doors. 
Instead, she testified that the doors were "grey", which is not true. Respondent has no 
way of knowing whether or where Ms. Jones actually delivered said letter, which door 
she might have slipped it under, or whether this was part of a setup that she and Mr. 
Albert had concocted to attempt to discredit Respondent. Respondent testified that he 
never received the letter allegedly dated on January 19, 2022. See paragraph 140. 

138. Objected to as lacking proper context. Respondent testified that he never received the 
letter allegedly dated on January 19, 2022. 

139. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination. Further, no Department 
of Corrections mailing records were introduced into evidence showing that the letter 
was ever sent. The claims concerning the alleged letter are belied by the testimony of 
Ms. Jones who continued to contact Respondent's office in her attempts to expedite a 
hearing date for Mr. Albert well after January 26, 2022. See, e.g, paragraph 141 of the 
asserted "facts". 

140. No Objections. 
141. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 

Ms. Cox, who was not made available for cross-examination. No evidence was 
presented that Ms. Cox would have had personal knowledge of calls made to the court 
or the Commonwealth's Attorney's office. 

142. No Objections. 
143. No Objections. 



144. Respondent denies that he was "previously terminated" and that asserted "fact" was 
not proved by clear and convincing evidence. Respondent testified that he was finally 
able to set the trial on March 28, 2022, believing that he was still representing Mr. 
Albert. 

145. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination in violation of 
Respondent's due process rights. 

146. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination in violation of 
Respondent's due process rights. 

147. Objected to the extent that the asserted "fact" is derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Albert, who was not made available for cross-examination in violation of 
Respondent's due process rights. 

148. No Objections. 
149. Objected to as incorrectly stating the evidence of the case. Respondent admitted to 

having been advised that via letter Mr. Albert terminated his representation shortly after 
the hearing of April 8, 2022. That letter written in April 2022 was the first and only 
indication that the Respondent had that Mr. Albert had terminated his services. 
Respondent had even noticed an appeal for Mr. Albert prior to receiving said letter. 

150. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent disputes that any of the highly discounted 
fees paid by Mr. Albert were unearned in view of the time spent on his case. 

151. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
152. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 

Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.2 - Ms. Jones admitted to repeatedly seeking an expedited hearing. Even 
though Respondent never received Ms. Jones letter, that letter did not "fire" 
Respondent. Nor did the letter state that Ms. Jones had any authority to "fire" 
Respondent. Respondent never received Mr. Albert's letter. The assertions that 
Mr. Albert "fired" respondent are also belied by repeated attempts after that 
letter by Ms. Jones to expedite scheduling a hearing (see, e.g., asserted facts at 
paragraph 141). Mr. Albert was duly advised of his hearing by the court in 
executing a transportation order for the hearing. Because all the arguments 
presented on his behalf were purely legal in character, nothing more was 
required under the rules. Mr. Albert's testimony was not required, and facts 
were not in dispute at the hearing. This asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.3 - Respondent testified that he scheduled the hearing as expeditiously as 
possible in view of COVID-19 restrictions on hearings in 2021. Indeed, the orders 
of judicial emergency declared by the Virginia Supreme Court extended until 
June 22, 2022 (see, FORTIETH ORDER EXTENDING DECLARATION OF JUDICIAL 
EMERGENCY IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19 EMERGENCY issued by the Virginia 
Supreme Court and dated May 27, 2022). Respondent notes that the "FORTEITH 
ORDER was actually issued after the hearing was held for Mr. Albert. No 



evidence was presented proving that the hearing could have been scheduled 
significantly earlier in view of the "JUDICIAL EMERGENCY" declarations of the 
Virginia Supreme Court. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.4 - Respondent testified that he had numerous communications with Mr. 
Albert and Ms. Jones during the representation. In view of the Motion to Vacate 
filed on Mr. Albert's behalf being purely legal arguments, no additional 
communications were required under an objective reading of Rule 1.4. 
Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being the supreme law 
of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced case law was 
or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. Accordingly, this 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.5 - Respondent presented evidence supporting the reasonableness of his 
fees. The Bar, by contrast, presented no evidence as to what reasonable fees 
would be for such representation. Further, the alleged rule violation is Objected 
to as being contrary to the evidence presented in the case. Respondent testified 
that significant work was performed on Mr. Albert's pleadings. Respondent's 
Exhibit 20 showed differences between the pleadings filed for Mr. Albert - they 
were not proved to be "copied almost verbatim" from documents filed on behalf 
of other clients. Moreover, the assertions about not fully detailing Respondent's 
work in pursuing relief for other clients in defective indictment cases have 
anything to do with the reasonableness of fees. It was made clear to both Mr. 
Albert and Ms. Jones that it would likely be necessary to pursue appeals up to at 
least the Virginia Supreme Court (see, e.g, VSB Exhibit D4). Accordingly, this 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - Respondent objects to this assertion because fees paid were earned 
prior to their payment. None were advanced fees. Respondent objects to not 
having received proper notice of LEO 1606 and its incorporation into the Rules of 
Professional Conduct without any reference in those Rules of Professional 
Conduct to LEO 1606. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme Court should 
explicitly state the full scope and extent of its rules rather than "hiding the ball" 
and depending upon individual attorneys to read thousands of legal ethics 
opinions. 
Rule 1.16- Respondent testified and presented evidence that fees paid were 
earned. Respondent's Exhibit 19. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] 
was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 5.3 - None of the statements made by Respondent's non lawyer assistants 
were false. Instead, those statements asserted optimism that Virginia courts 
would recognize the basic civil right to a proper grand jury indictment 
enumerated in the Fifth Amendment. Respondent and his nonlawyer assistants 
should be able to rely on the United States Constitution as the supreme law of 
the land. Mr. Albert's civil right to a proper grand jury indictment should have 
been recognized and he should have been released. Accordingly, this asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 



Rule 8.1- Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Albert. Respondent's Exhibit 
19. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. The Bar did not have 
one of its agents present at the time that the work was being performed to be 
able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was likely more involved 
and different from what another attorney might have used, but that does not 
make Respondent's statements either "false" or "knowingly" "false". 
Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.4 - Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Albert. Respondent's Exhibit 
19. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. The Bar did not have 
one of its agents present at the time that the work was being performed to be 
able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was likely more involved 
and different from what another attorney might have used, but that does not 
make Respondent's statements false. Respondent and his clients should be 
entitled to rely upon the United States Constitution as the supreme law of the 
land. Respondent made no false statements in his representation of Mr. Albert. 
Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 

Antonio Townsend/Maria Lankford 
Findings of Fact 

153. No Objections. 
154. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Townsend and Ms. Lankford, who were not made available for cross-examination. 
This violated Respondent's due process rights. 

155. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Townsend, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

156. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Townsend, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

157. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Townsend, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

158. No Objections. 
159. No Objections. 
160. No Objections. 
161. No Objections. 
162. No Objections. 
163. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Townsend, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 



Respondent's due process rights. Objected to because Respondent and his clients 
should be entitled to rely upon the United States Constitution as the supreme law of the 
land. 

164. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Ms. Lankford, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

165. No Objections. 
166. No Objections. 
167. No Objections. 
168. Objected to because no evidence was introduced about who actually sent the 

referenced e-mail so Respondent could cross-examine them. It is axiomatic that Mr. 
Dennis could not have sent the e-mail because he was incarcerated at the time and had 
no ability to access computer equipment to send the referenced e-mail. 

169. Objected to because Mr. Dennis did not, and indeed could not have, sent the e-mail. 
No evidence was presented as to who actually sent the e-mail. Respondent testified 
that he knew nothing about the e-mail. Respondent personally performed all work on 
Mr. Townsend's case. 

170. Objected to because the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of Mr. 
Townsend and possibly Mr. George (double hearsay). Neither Mr. Townsend nor Mr. 
George were not made available for cross-examination. This violated Respondent's due 
process rights. 

171. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Townsend and Ms. Lankford, who were not made available for cross-examination. 
This violated Respondent's due process rights. Further objected to because there was 
no evidence of any communications allegedly from Mr. Townsend. 

172. Objected to because the asserted "fact" is inconsistent with the evidence. The 
communication was not with Respondent but with one of Respondent's employees. 
Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Ms. Lankford, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

173. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Ms. Lankford about what Taylor Biggs allegedly said (double hearsay). Neither Ms. 
Lankford nor Ms. Biggs were not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

174. No Objections. 
175. No Objections. 
176. No Objections. 
177. Objected to because no evidence was presented proving any "typographical errors" in 

the filings, much less "identical typographical errors". Further, the asserted facts are 
misleading because they do not reflect the extent of work performed in developing the 
pleadings. 

178. Objected to as misleading. The reference to the multi-jurisdictional grand jury was a 
single artifact sentence in the motion. No argument was made concerning the artifact 
sentence in the memorandum in support of motion. 



179. Objected to because no evidence was introduced introducing that Mr. Townsend made 
any such communications. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived 
from hearsay testimony of Ms. Lankford or Mr. Townsend, neither of which were made 
available for cross-examination. This violated Respondent's due process rights. 

180. Objected to as vague as to which communications are being referenced. Further 
objected to as mischaracterizations of the communications, which speak for themselves. 

181. Objected to as misleading. Respondent testified that he had contacted the court and 
was told that only the Commonwealth's Attorney would need to set a hearing. 

182. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Ms. Lankford, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

183. Objected to because the asserted "facts" are inconsistent with the evidence relied 
upon. There is no allegation that Mr. Townsend ever made such a communication with 
Respondent. Instead, e-mails from Ms. Lankford have been proffered. These e-mails are 
objected to because there is no evidence that Ms. Lankford had authority from Mr. 
Townsend to terminate representation. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" 
are derived from hearsay testimony of Ms. Lankford, who was not made available for 
cross-examination. This violated Respondent's due process rights. 

184. Objected to because the asserted "facts" are inconsistent with the evidence relied 
upon. There is no allegation that Mr. Townsend ever made such a communication with 
Respondent. Instead, e-mails from Ms. Lankford have been proffered. These e-mails are 
objected to because there is no evidence that Ms. Lankford had authority from Mr. 
Townsend to terminate representation. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" 
are derived from hearsay testimony of Ms. Lankford, who was not made available for 
cross-examination. This violated Respondent's due process rights. 

185. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent was prevented from continuing in the case 
because of termination by Mr. Townsend. 

186. Objected to because evidence presented at trial was insufficient to prove that any fees 
were unearned by clear and convincing evidence. 

187. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent was compelled to withdraw from Mr. 
Townsend's case due to his two-month suspension from practice by this Court in 2022. 
No request was made for Mr. Townsend's file. No documents in Mr. Townsend's file fall 
within the rubric of Rule 1.16. 

188. Objected to as not accurately reflecting Respondent's testimony. Respondent testified 
that no refund would be granted until either a settlement could be reached as to the 
amount, or a ruling was obtained in a case pending that does not involve Townsend or 
any of his family as to a proper methodology for making a quantum meruit 
determination. LEO 1606 provides no methodology for making a quantum meruit 
determination. 

189. Objected to as lacking context. Time records were prepared based primarily upon 
computer metadata logged contemporaneously with work performed. That computer 
metadata showed when Respondent worked on the matter. 

190. Objected to to the extent that it does not accurately reflect the testimony of Mr. Baker. 
Further objected to because Mr. Baker provided no foundation for what his "impression" 



was based upon. Mr. Baker was not qualified as an expert in any field whatsoever and 
did not state a factual basis for any asserted "impressions" that he might have had. 
Speculation on the part of Mr. Baker is not entitled to much, if any, weight. 

191. Objected to as not being proved based upon clear and convincing evidence. 
Respondent testified to his process and the time actually spent performing work on Mr. 
Townsend's behalf. Respondent's Exhibit 22. 

192. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with Mr. Townsend or any of his family members as to an hourly rate that would be 
charged if a dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. Respondent reported time 
spent on the documents submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of 
$300 per hour in the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of 
the firm finances and the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent 
determined that a $600 per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of 
inmate representation. The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. 

193. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with Mr. Townsend or any of his family members as to an hourly rate that would be 
charged if a dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. Respondent reported time 
spent on the documents submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of 
$300 per hour in the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of 
the firm finances and the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent 
determined that a $600 per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of 
inmate representation. The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. 

194. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent never had a discussion with Mr. Baker 
concerning a proper hourly rate. Respondent reported time spent on the documents 
submitted in the VSB response based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in the 
timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, PLC. After additional review of the firm finances and 
the true overhead costs of representing inmates, Respondent determined that a $600 
per hour rate is more reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate representation. 
The alleged "facts" of this paragraph lack that context. 

195. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
196. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 

Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.3 - Respondent testified that he scheduled the hearing as expeditiously as 
possible in view of COVID-19 restrictions on hearings in 2021. Indeed, the orders 
of judicial emergency declared by the Virginia Supreme Court extended until 
June 22, 2022 (see, FORTIETH ORDER EXTENDING DECLARATION OF JUDICIAL 
EMERGENCY IN RESPONSE TO COVID-19 EMERGENCY issued by the Virginia 
Supreme Court and dated May 27, 2022). The Bar presented no evidence of 
procedures ofthe court at issue as a consequence of COVID-19. No evidence 
was presented proving that the hearing could reasonably have been scheduled 
significantly earlier in view of the "JUDICIAL EMERGENCY" declarations of the 
Virginia Supreme Court. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 



Rule 1.4 - Evidence admitted during trial showed that Respondent's office had 
numerous communications with Mr. Townsend's family during the 
representation. Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the 
referenced case law was or is superior authority to the United States 
Constitution. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.5 - Respondent presented evidence supporting the reasonableness of his 
fees. The Bar, by contrast, presented no evidence as to what reasonable fees 
would be for such representation. Further, the alleged rule violation is Objected 
to as being contrary to the evidence presented in the case. Respondent testified 
that significant work was performed on Mr. Townsend's pleadings. Respondent's 
Exhibit 22. Respondent's Exhibit 21 showed differences between the pleadings 
filed for Mr. Townsend - they were not proved to be "copied almost verbatim" 
from documents filed on behalf of other clients. Moreover, the assertions about 
not fully detailing Respondent's work in pursuing relief for other clients in 
defective indictment cases have anything to do with the reasonableness of fees. 
It was made clear to both Mr. Townsend and his family that it would likely be 
necessary to pursue appeals up to at least the Virginia Supreme Court (see, e.g, 
VSB Exhibit E7). Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the 
referenced case law was or is superior authority to the United States 
Constitution. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - Respondent objects to not having received proper notice of LEO 1606 
and its incorporation into the Rules of Professional Conduct without any 
reference in those Rules of Professional Conduct to LEO 1606. As a matter of 
policy, the Virginia Supreme Court should explicitly state the full scope and 
extent of its rules rather than "hiding the ball" and depending upon individual 
attorneys to read thousands of legal ethics opinions. 
Rule 1.16- Respondent testified and presented evidence that fees paid were 
earned. Respondent's Exhibit 22. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] 
was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 5.3 - None of the statements made by Respondent's nonlawyer assistants 
were false. Instead, those statements asserted optimism that Virginia courts 
would recognize the basic civil right to a proper grand jury indictment 
enumerated in the Fifth Amendment. Respondent and his nonlawyer assistants 
should be able to rely on the United States Constitution as the supreme law of 
the land. Mr. Townsend's civil right to a proper grand jury indictment should 
have been recognized and he should have been released. Accordingly, this 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.1- Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Townsend. Respondent's 
Exhibit 22. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. The Bar did 



not have one of its agents present at the time that the work was being 
performed to be able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was likely 
more involved and different from what Bar counsel or others might have used, 
but that does not make Respondent's statements either "false" or "knowingly" 
"false". Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear 
and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.4 - Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Townsend. Respondent's 
Exhibit 22. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. The Bar did 
not have one of its agents present at the time that the work was being 
performed to be able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was likely 
more involved and different from what Bar counsel might have used, but that 
does not make Respondent's statements false. Respondent and his clients 
should be entitled to rely upon the United States Constitution as the supreme 
law of the land. Respondent made no false statements in his representation of 
Mr. Townsend. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 

Eugene A. Fredo 
Findings of Fact 

197. No Objections. 
198. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

199. No Objections. 
200. No Objections. 
201. No Objections. 
202. No Objections. 
203. No Objections. 
204. No Objections. 
205. No Objections. 
206. No Objections. 
207. No Objections. 
208. No Objections. 
209. No Objections. 
210. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

211. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. Further objected to because Respondent relied upon 
the United States Constitution as being the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided 
no evidence showing the referenced case law was or is superior authority to the United 
States Constitution. 



212. No Objections. 
213. No Objections. 
214. No Objections. 
215. No Objections. 
216. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that after additional review of the 

subject case, an alternate legal strategy was selected and asserted on Mr. Eugene A. 
Fredo's behalf. This was a matter of legal strategy within the scope of the 
representation. 

217. Objected to as misleading. The reference to the multi-jurisdictional grand jury was a 
single artifact sentence in the motion. No argument was made concerning the artifact 
sentence in the memorandum in support of motion. 

218. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 

219. Objected to because the indictments of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo were defective in 
violation of his constitutional rights. Respondent relied upon the United States 
Constitution as being the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence 
showing that Virginia is not subject to the requirements of the United States 
Constitution. 

220. Respondent's Exhibit 25 showed differences between the pleadings filed for Mr. 
Eugene A. Fredo - they were not proved to be "copied almost verbatim" from 
documents filed on behalf of other clients. Objected to because no evidence was 
presented proving any "typographical errors" in the filings, much less "identical 
typographical errors". Further, the asserted facts are misleading because they do not 
reflect the extent of work performed in developing the pleadings. 

221. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that the grounds of "emotional 
and psychological abuse as a child" was not pursued because denial of access to Mr. 
Eugene A. Fredo for psychological examination by the Virginia Department of 
Corrections. Mr. Eugene A. Fredo had expressed a desire to use this argument, but there 
was no evidence of such in his file and it would have been necessary to obtain a new 
expert opinion in order to assert such an argument. Respondent testified that no such 
examination was possible in 2020 or most of 2021 due to COVID-19 restrictions imposed 
by the Virginia Department of Corrections. 

222. Objected to because Respondent's Exhibit 25 showed differences between the 
pleadings filed for Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. The referenced arguments were based upon a 
diminished capacity of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo not properly considered at sentencing. The 
argument presented was proper. 

223. Objected to as grossly oversimplifying the nuances of arguments made on behalf of 
Mr. Townsend. 

224. Objected to as being contrary to the evidence of the case. There is no evidence that 
the arguments advanced on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo were "wholly irrelevant" to 
his case. Instead, arguments advanced on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo are entirely 
consistent with his diminished capacity because of his severe post-traumatic distress 
disorder following military service. 



225. There was no evidence at trial that Graham is inapposite to the case of Mr. Eugene A. 
Fredo. Bar counsel's naked post-trial assertions cannot be considered as evidence. 
Indeed, had bar counsel performed proper legal research prior to signing the "FINAL 
MEMORANDUM ORDER", he would have recognized that Graham stands for the basic 
premise that those with reduced culpability should receive less severe sentencing that 
others without reduced culpability. As just a single portion of Graham, Respondent 
quotes the following (emphasis added): 

Community consensus, while "entitled to great weight," is not itself 
determinative of whether a punishment is cruel and unusual. Kennedy, 554 U.S., 
at 434, 128 S. Ct. 2641, 2658, 171 L. Ed. 2d 525, 548. In accordance with the 
constitutional design, "the task of interpreting the Eighth Amendment remains 
our responsibility." Roper, 543 U.S., at 575, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1. The 
judicial exercise of independent judgment requires consideration of the 
culpability of the offenders at issue in light of their crimes and characteristics, 
along with the severity of the punishment in question. Id., at 568, 125 S. Ct. 
1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1; Kennedy, supra, at 418, 128 S. Ct. 2641, 171 L. Ed. 2d 525; 
cf. Solem, 463 U.S., at 292, 103 S. Ct. 3001, 77 L. Ed. 2d 637. In this inquiry the 
Court also considers whether the challenged sentencing practice serves 
legitimate penological goals. Kennedy, supra, at 443, 128 S. Ct. 2641, 2662, 171 L. 
Ed. 2d 525, 552; Roper, supra, at 571-572, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1; Atkins, 
536 U.S., at 318-320, 122 S. Ct. 2242, 153 L. Ed. 2d 335. 

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 67-68, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2026 (2010). Respondent 
encourages Bar counsel to fulfill his ethical responsibilities to the court and read legal 
authority before representing to a court that it has "no bearing" on Mr. Eugene A. 
Freda's case. 

226. Objected to as not considering the pleadings filed on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo in 
its entirety. 

227. Objected to as mischaracterizing the evidence of the case as presented at trial. 
Further objected to as misleading and not properly reflecting actual time spent by 
Respondent on the case of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. 

228. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with Mr. Eugene A. Fredo or any of his family members as to an hourly rate that would 
be charged in the event that a dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. 
Respondent reported time spent on the documents submitted in the VSB response 
based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, 
PLC. After additional review of the firm finances and the true overhead costs of 
representing inmates, Respondent determined that a $600 per hour rate is more 
reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate representation. The alleged "facts" of 
this paragraph lack that context. 

229. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that there was no agreement 
with Mr. Eugene A. Fredo or any of his family members as to an hourly rate that would 
be charged in the event that a dispute like the one at issue in this case arose. 
Respondent reported time spent on the documents submitted in the VSB response 
based upon a default rate of $300 per hour in the timekeeping system of Dale Jensen, 



PLC. After additional review of the firm finances and the true overhead costs of 
representing inmates, Respondent determined that a $600 per hour rate is more 
reflective of the actual cost to the firm of inmate representation. The alleged "facts" of 
this paragraph lack that context. 

230. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that Department of Corrections 
rules precluded the previously planned psychological examination of Mr. Eugene A. 
Fredo. 

231. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that Department of Corrections 
rules precluded the previously planned psychological examination of Mr. Eugene A. 
Fredo. 

232. Objected to as misleading. Respondent actually told Mr. Baker that he had identified 
an expert for use in the case of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. Respondent did not remember 
whether that expert had been retained for Mr. Eugene A. Fred o's case or that of another 
client. After further review, Respondent confirmed to Mr. Baker that the expert was 
retained on behalf of another client. 

233. No Objections. 
234. No Objections. 
235. No Objections. 
236. Objected to because of this Court not properly granting a requested continuance in 

this case in order to allow for proper trial preparation. Respondent admits to mistakenly 
recalling that it was Ms. Boss that was denied access to a client in the Virginia 
Department of Corrections. Additional research, which Respondent just didn't have 
time to perform in time for the trial, revealed that it was another forensic psychologist, 
Sahair Monfared, who was informed that she would not be allowed to examine a client 
in Greensville Correctional Center. 

237. Objected to because of this Court not properly granting a requested continuance in 
this case in order to allow for proper trial preparation. Respondent admits to mistakenly 
recalling that it was Ms. Boss that was denied access to a client in the Virginia 
Department of Corrections. Additional research, which Respondent just didn't have 
time to perform in time for the trial, revealed that it was another forensic psychologist, 
Sahair Monfared, who was informed that she would not be allowed to examine a client 
in Greensville Correctional Center. 

238. Objected to because of this Court not properly granting a requested continuance in 
this case in order to allow for proper trial preparation. Respondent admits to mistakenly 
recalling that it was Ms. Boss that was denied access to a client in the Virginia 
Department of Corrections. Additional research, which Respondent just didn't have 
time to perform in time for the trial, revealed that it was another forensic psychologist, 
Sahair Monfared, who was informed that she would not be allowed to examine a client 
in Greensville Correctional Center. 

239. Objected to because the truly relevant inquiry as to availability of a forensic 
examination of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo was not the experience of Ms. Boss or even Sahair 
Monfared. The relevant inquiry was what the Department of Corrections allowed during 
COVID-19. Despite having many months to investigate this case, there was no evidence 



that the Bar or any of its agents ever made such an inquiry. Respondent should have 
been granted a continuance to develop such evidence. 

240. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

241. No Objections. 
242. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

243. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Eugene A. Fredo about double hearsay attributed to Matthew George, neither of 
which were not made available for cross-examination. This violated Respondent's due 
process rights. 

244. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

245. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay statements 
of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo, who was not made available for cross-examination. This 
violated Respondent's due process rights. 

246. Objected to as misleading. Respondent testified that he did not receive notice of the 
denial of the Motion to Vacate filed on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo until after the time 
period for appeal had expired. 

247. Objected to because evidence produced at trial proved that the fees charged were 
earned. Respondent's Exhibit 24. 

248. No Objections. 
249. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
250. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 

Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.1- Respondent testified that he drafted the filings made on behalf of Mr. 
Eugene A. Fredo based upon his best judgment. There was no evidence that 
presented at trial that the pleadings were not adequately reviewed. There was 
no evidence that the pleadings as filed were not "competent" to the extent 
required under Rule 1.1. Respondent could have corrected the appellate issues 
had representation been allowed to continue. Accordingly, this asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.3 - Respondent testified that he was not notified of the denial of the 
Motion to Vacate in time to notice an appeal. This could have been corrected 
with a civil case filing had Respondent been allowed to continue in the case. 
Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.4 - Evidence admitted during trial showed that Respondent's office had 
numerous communications with Mr. Eugene A. Fredo's family during the 
representation. Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 



the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the 
referenced case law was or is superior authority to the United States 
Constitution. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by 
clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.5 - Respondent presented evidence supporting the reasonableness of his 
fees. The Bar, by contrast, presented no evidence as to what reasonable fees 
would be for such representation. Further, the alleged rule violation is Objected 
to as being contrary to the evidence presented in the case. Respondent testified 
that significant work was performed on Eugene A. Freda's pleadings. 
Respondent's Exhibit 22. Respondent's Exhibit 21 showed differences between 
the pleadings filed for Eugene A. Fredo - they were not proved to be "copied 
almost verbatim" from documents filed on behalf of other clients. Moreover, the 
assertions about not fully detailing Respondent's work in pursuing relief for other 
clients in defective indictment cases have anything to do with the reasonableness 
of fees. It was made clear to both Mr. Eugene A. Fredo and his family that it 
would likely be necessary to pursue appeals up to at least the Virginia Supreme 
Court (see, e.g, VSB Exhibit F8). Respondent relied upon the United States 
Constitution as being the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no 
evidence showing the referenced case law was or is superior authority to the 
United States Constitution. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was 
not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - Respondent objects to not having received proper notice of LEO 1606 
and its incorporation into the Rules of Professional Conduct without any 
reference in those Rules of Professional Conduct to LEO 1606. As a matter of 
policy, the Virginia Supreme Court should explicitly state the full scope and 
extent of its rules rather than "hiding the ball" and depending upon individual 
attorneys to read thousands of legal ethics opinions. 
Rule 1.16 - Respondent testified and presented evidence that fees paid were 
earned. Respondent's Exhibit 24. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] 
was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 5.3 - Objected to as being based upon double hearsay of statements 
allegedly made by Matthew George to Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. Admission of this 
testimony violated Respondent's due process rights. Accordingly, this asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.1- Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. 
Respondent's Exhibit 22. Respondent made no false statements. Respondent 
did not tell Investigator Baker that he had contacted an expert witness on behalf 
of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. Instead, Respondent truthfully told Investigator Baker 
that an expert had been identified but that he did not recall whether said expert 
had been retained for Mr. Eugene A. Fredo or for another client. As to time 
records, the Bar did not have one of its agents present at the time that the work 
was being performed to be able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process 
was likely more involved and different from what Bar counsel or others might 



have used, but that does not make Respondent's statements either "false" or 
"knowingly" "false". Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.4 - Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. 
Respondent's Exhibit 22. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. 
The Bar did not have one of its agents present at the time that the work was 
being performed to be able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was 
likely more involved and different from what Bar counsel might have used, but 
that does not make Respondent's statements false. Respondent and his clients 
should be entitled to rely upon the United States Constitution as the supreme 
law of the land. Respondent made no false statements in his representation of 
Mr. Eugene A. Fredo. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not 
proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

Thomas Purcell 
Findings of Fact 

251. No Objections. 
252. No Objections. 
253. No Objections. 
254. No Objections. 
255. No Objections. 
256. No Objections. 
257. No Objections. 
258. No Objections. 
259. No Objections. 
260. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 

existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

261. No Objections. 
262. No Objections. 
263. No Objections. 
264. No Objections. 
265. No Objections. 
266. No Objections. 
267. No Objections. 
268. No Objections. 
269. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 

the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 



270. Objected to because Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being 
the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced 
case law was or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. 

271. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 
existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

272. No Objections. 
273. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 

existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

274. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 
existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

275. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 
existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

276. Objected to as being misleading. Respondent misidentified the payment made on 
behalf of Mr. Purcell. This misidentification does not support the assertion that 
"Respondent was unaware of who actually paid for services on behalf of Mr. Purcell." 

277. Objected to as being misleading. Respondent misidentified the payment made on 
behalf of Mr. Purcell. This misidentification does not support the assertion that 
"Respondent was unaware of who actually paid for services on behalf of Mr. Purcell." 

278. Objected to as being misleading. Respondent misidentified the payment made on 
behalf of Mr. Purcell. This misidentification does not support the assertion that 
"Respondent was unaware of who actually paid for services on behalf of Mr. Purcell." 

279. Objected to as being misleading. Respondent misidentified the payment made on 
behalf of Mr. Purcell. This misidentification does not support the assertion that 
"Respondent was unaware of who actually paid for services on behalf of Mr. Purcell." 

280. Objected to because Respondent testified that he had no knowledge or notice of the 
existence of LEO 1606 on December 3, 2019. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should cite to or reference LEO 1606 in its rules in order to provide proper notice 
to members of the Bar. 

281. No Objections. 
282. Objected to as not being supported by the evidence produced at trial. See 

Respondent's Exhibit 26. The compared documents are not "nearly identical". 
283. Objected to as misleading. Respondent testified that the Petition Writ of Actual 

Innocence was not filed because Mr. Purcell never provided a signed document for filing 
as required by law. Respondent had prepared the filing and believed it was nearly ready 
to file but could not file without Mr. Purcell's signature. 



284. Objected to because the asserted facts do not include Mr. Purcell's admission that he 
produced no records at trial proving mailing of the documents that he claims to have 
sent. 

285. No Objections. 
286. No Objections. 
287. No Objections. 
288. No Objections. 
289. Objected to because Respondent testified that his services were terminated by Mr. 

Purcell and had no authority to file the opening brief. 
290. Objected to because Respondent testified that his services were terminated by Mr. 

Purcell and had no authority to file the opening brief. 
291. Objected to because of missing context. Respondent testified that a petition for writ 

of habeas corpus could not be filed prior to a resolution of the planned Petition for Writ 
of Actual Innocence. 

292. Objected to because of missing context. Respondent testified that Mr. Purcell had 
requested a refund in an amount far more than any amount that Respondent could 
agree to in view of the extensive work performed on Mr. Purcell's behalf. 

293. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
294. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 

Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.3 - The Bar presented no evidence that the denial of the Motion to Vacate 
was not timely rendered. Post-trial assertions by bar counsel are not evidence. 
Further, Respondent testified that the possible petition for writ of habeas corpus 
could not be filed until or unless the Petition for Writ of Actual Innocence was 
denied. The Bar did not present any contradictory evidence. Accordingly, this 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.4 - Evidence admitted during trial showed that Respondent's office had 
numerous communications with Mr. Purcell during the representation. 
Respondent relied upon the United States Constitution as being the supreme law 
of the land. The Bar provided no evidence showing the referenced case law was 
or is superior authority to the United States Constitution. Accordingly, this 
asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.5 - Respondent presented evidence supporting the reasonableness of his 
fees. The Bar, by contrast, presented no evidence as to what reasonable fees 
would be for such representation. Further, the alleged rule violation is Objected 
to as being contrary to the evidence presented in the case. Respondent testified 
that significant work was performed on Mr. Purcell's pleadings. Respondent's 
Exhibit 27. Respondent's Exhibit 26 showed differences between the pleadings 
filed for Mr. Purcell compared to another referenced pleading- they were not 
proved to be "copied almost verbatim" from documents filed on behalf of other 
clients. Moreover, the assertions about not fully detailing Respondent's work in 
pursuing relief for other clients in defective indictment cases have anything to do 
with the reasonableness of fees. It was made clear to Mr. Purcell that it would 
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likely be necessary to pursue appeals up to at least the Virginia Supreme Court 
(see, e.g, VSB Exhibit G4). Respondent relied upon the United States 
Constitution as being the supreme law of the land. The Bar provided no 
evidence showing the referenced case law was or is superior authority to the 
United States Constitution. Further objected to because the possible petition for 
writ of habeas corpus could not be filed until or unless the Petition for Writ of 
Actual Innocence was denied. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was 
not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - Respondent objects to not having received proper notice of LEO 1606 
and its incorporation into the Rules of Professional Conduct without any 
reference in those Rules of Professional Conduct to LEO 1606. As a matter of 
policy, the Virginia Supreme Court should explicitly state the full scope and 
extent of its rules rather than "hiding the ball" and depending upon individual 
attorneys to read thousands of legal ethics opinions. 
Rule 8.4 - Respondent testified and presented evidence as to the amount of time 
actually spent in performing work on behalf of Mr. Purcell. Respondent's Exhibit 
27. Respondent made no false statements in his testimony. The Bar did not have 
one of its agents present at the time that the work was being performed to be 
able to contest this testimony. Respondent's process was likely more involved 
and different from what Bar counsel might have used, but that does not make 
Respondent's statements false. Respondent could not file the Petition for Writ of 
Actual Innocence prepared on Mr. Purcell's behalf because Mr. Purcell failed to 
provide a signed copy. Petition for Writ of Actual Innocence could not be filed 
without Mr. Purcell's signature. The petition for writ of habeas corpus could not 
be filed until or unless the Petition for Writ of Actual Innocence was denied. The 
Respondent and his clients should be entitled to rely upon the United States 
Constitution as the supreme law of the land. Respondent made no false 
statements in his representation of Mr. Townsend. Accordingly, this asserted 
"MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 

Monique Nichols 
Findings of Fact 

295. No Objections. 
296. No Objections. 
297. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Nichols, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

298. No Objections. 
299. Objection as lacking context as to when fees were actually earned under the August 

23, 2017 letter. 
300. No Objections. 
301. Objected to because no evidence was presented that any of the fees paid on behalf of 

Mr. Nichols were paid in advance of work such that deposit in the trust account was 
required even under LEO 1606. 
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302. No Objections. 
303. Objected to because no evidence was presented that any of the fees paid on behalf of 

Mr. Nichols were paid in advance of work such that deposit in the trust account was 
required even under LEO 1606. 

304. Objected to because no evidence was presented that any of the fees paid on behalf of 
Mr. Nichols were paid in advance of work such that deposit in the trust account was 
required even under LEO 1606. 

305. Objected to because no evidence was presented that any of the fees paid on behalf of 
Mr. Nichols were paid in advance of work such that deposit in the trust account was 
required even under LEO 1606. 

306. No Objections. 
307. No Objections. 
308. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 

Mr. Nichols, who was not made available for cross-examination. This violated 
Respondent's due process rights. 

309. Objected to the extent that the asserted "facts" are derived from hearsay testimony of 
members of the Nichols family that were not made available for cross-examination. This 
violated Respondent's due process rights. 

310. No Objections. 
311. No Objections. 
312. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that he submitted the affidavit in 

good faith believing that Mr. George was truthful in his affidavit. It was not until well 
after the submission of the affidavit that Respondent became aware of the incorrect 
statements in the affidavit. 

313. No Objections. 
314. No Objections. 
315. No Objections. 
316. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that he relied upon statements 

made by Mr. George. Respondent further reasonably believed that letters in Mr. Nichols 
file were actually sent to him by Mr. George. 

317. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 
318. Respondent objects to this paragraph as stating a legal conclusion rather than a fact. 

Further objected to for all the other reasons previously stated herein. Said legal 
conclusions are objected to as follows: 

Rule 1.4 - Evidence admitted during trial showed that Respondent's office had 
numerous communications with Mr. Nichol's family during the representation. 
Respondent reasonably believed Mr. George as to some communications that 
presently appear not have taken place. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" 
[sic] was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 1.15 - There was no evidence that any fees paid on Ostrander's behalf were 
advance fees. Instead, the fees were paid in small increments after work was 
performed. This asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and 
convincing evidence. 
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Rule 1.16 - Respondent testified and presented evidence that fees paid were 
earned. Respondent's Exhibit 31. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] 
was not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 5.3 - Respondent was not aware that any of the statements made by 
Respondent's nonlawyer assistant, Mr. George, were false. Respondent did not 
"ratify" the affidavit of Mr. George as to any false statements made therein. 
Respondent did not ascertain that the affidavit contained false statements until 
well after the affidavit was signed and filed with the Bar. At the time that the 
affidavit was provided to the Bar, Respondent had no basis to doubt the 
truthfulness of the affidavit. Accordingly, this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was 
not proved by clear and convincing evidence. 
Rule 8.1- Respondent was not aware that any of the statements made by 
Respondent's nonlawyer assistant, Mr. George, were false. Respondent did not 
"ratify" the affidavit of Mr. George as to any false statements made therein. 
Respondent did not ascertain that the affidavit contained false statements until 
well after the affidavit was signed and filed with the Bar. At the time, 
Respondent had no basis to doubt the truthfulness of the affidavit. Accordingly, 
this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing 
evidence. 
Rule 8.4 - Respondent was not aware that any of the statements made by 
Respondent's nonlawyer assistant, Mr. George, were false. Respondent did not 
"ratify" the affidavit of Mr. George as to any false statements made therein. 
Respondent did not ascertain that the affidavit contained false statements until 
well after the affidavit was signed and filed with the Bar. At the time, 
Respondent had no basis to doubt the truthfulness of the affidavit. Accordingly, 
this asserted "MISCODUCT" [sic] was not proved by clear and convincing 
evidence. 

Virginia State Bar/Trust Account 
Findings of Fact 

319. No Objections. 
320. No Objections. 
321. No Objections. 
322. No Objections. 
323. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
324. Objected to as not being fully reflective of testimony. Further objected to as 

presenting a legal conclusion rather than a finding of fact. 
325. No Objections. 
326. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
327. Objected to as not being fully reflective of testimony. Further objected to as 

presenting a legal conclusion rather than a finding of fact. Respondent objects to not 



• 

having received proper notice of LEO 1606 and its incorporation into the Rules of 
Professional Conduct without any reference in those Rules of Professional Conduct to 
LEO 1606. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme Court should explicitly state the 
full scope and extent of its rules rather than "hiding the ball" and depending upon 
individual attorneys to read thousands of legal ethics opinions. 

328. No Objections. 
329. No Objections. 
330. No Objections. 
331. No Objections. 
332. No Objections. 
333. No Objections. 
334. No Objections. 
335. No Objections. 
336. No Objections. 
337. No Objections. 
338. No Objections. 
339. No Objections. 
340. No Objections. 
341. No Objections. 
342. No Objections. 
343. No Objections. 
344. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
345. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
346. No Objections. 
347. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
348. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. 
349. No Objections. 
350. No Objections. 
351. Objected to as lacking context and inconsistent with Respondent's testimony at trial. 
352. No Objections. 
353. No Objections. 
354. No Objections. 
355. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that during the referenced time 

period that he had received periodic additional case review payments from clients. 
These payments were received prior to Respondent taking training in trust account 
accounting procedures. In hindsight, Respondent should have explicitly withdrawn Mr. 
Albert's funds and showed an equal transfer back in for the client paying funds in the 
same amount as those of Albert. Respondent denied having any amounts in the trust 
account that were not appropriately there. 

356. No Objections. 



" 

357. No Objections. 
358. No Objections. 
359. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that during the referenced time 

period that he had received periodic additional case review payments from clients. 
These payments were received prior to Respondent taking training in trust account 
accounting procedures. In hindsight, Respondent should have explicitly withdrawn Mr. 
Albert's funds and showed an equal transfer back in for the client paying funds in the 
same amount as those of Albert. Respondent denied having any amounts in the trust 
account that were not appropriately there. 

360. No Objections. 
361. No Objections. 
362. No Objections. 
363. No Objections. 
364. No Objections. 
365. Objected to for being unduly vague. The order should be specific as to dates and 

amounts that would have been subject to Rule 1.15. Further objected to because 
Respondent needed time to review and analyze LEO 1606 during 2021. 

366. Objected to as being contrary to the evidence of the case. Respondent began work 
will before the fee referenced in March 2021 was paid. Respondent's Exhibit 19. The 
Bar did not prove that any of the fees paid on behalf of Mr. Albert were paid in advance 
of work being performed. 

367. Objected to as a legal conclusion that Mr. Baker had no apparent ability to make 
because he was never qualified as an expert. 

368. Objected to as being contrary to the evidence of the case. Respondent began work 
will before the fee referenced in March 2021 was paid. Respondent's Exhibit 19. The 
Bar did not prove that any of the fees paid on behalf of Mr. Albert were paid in advance 
of work being performed. 

369. No Objections. 
370. No Objections. 
371. No Objections. 
372. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent had no checks for the trust account with 

him on a cross-country trip. Respondent made a check out to Dr. Holzknecht in the 
proper amount on the same day the funds were transferred. The funds were deposited 
by Or. Holzknecht in due course. 

373. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent testified that he had no checks for the 
trust account with him on a cross-country trip. Respondent made a check out to the 
other client in the proper amount on the same day the funds were transferred. The 
funds were deposited by the other client in due course. 

374. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent had no checks for the trust account with 
him on a cross-country trip. Respondent made a check out to Dr. Holzknecht in the 
proper amount on the same day the funds were transferred. The funds were deposited 
by Dr. Holzknecht in due course. 

375. Objected to as lacking context. Respondent had no checks for the trust account with 
him on a cross-country trip. Respondent made a check out to Dr. Holzknecht in the 
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proper amount on the same day the funds were transferred. The funds were deposited 
by Dr. Holzknecht in due course. 

Respondent objects to the "FINDINGS OF MISCODUCT" [sic] as follows: 
Rule 1.15 - Respondent objects because no evidence showed any specific 
deposits or advance fees that should have been deposited into the referenced 
trust account beyond those referenced herein, supra. Consequently, no 
additional violation was proved by clear and convincing evidence. Respondent 
objects to not having received proper notice of LEO 1606 and its incorporation 
into the Rules of Professional Conduct without any reference in those Rules of 
Professional Conduct to LEO 1606. As a matter of policy, the Virginia Supreme 
Court should explicitly state the full scope and extent of its rules rather than 
"hiding the ball" and depending upon individual attorneys to read thousands of 
legal ethics opinions. 

IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS 
For all of reasons stated herein, Respondent objects to the imposed sanctions as being 

unduly harsh in view of the totality of the circumstances and testimony presented in the case. 
Applicant had certified compliance with Rule 1.15 bimonthly pursuant to this Court's order of 
June 2022. In view of this compliance as well as Respondent not having taken any post­
conviction relief cases for over two years, an admonition or at most a modest suspension should 
have been imposed instead of an immediate outright revocation of Respondent's license to 
practice law. 

Dale Reese Jensen., pro se 
606 Bull Run 
Staunton., Virginia 22401 
(540) 255-7188 
dj ensen@j ensenjustice .coin 




